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Nixu in brief

Nixu is an international cybersecurity services company that has been build-
ing a secure digital society for over three decades. Nixu is a trusted cyberse-
curity partner for its clients, providing practical solutions to ensure business 
continuity, easy access to digital services and data protection. With com-
prehensive services, Nixu helps its clients to capitalize on the opportunities 
provided by digitalization in a safe manner.

Nixu is the largest company specialized in cybersecurity services on the Nor-
dic market and its clients are typically large, internationally operating com-
panies or government organizations. Nixu has Nordic roots and employs 
experts in Finland, Sweden, the Netherlands, Denmark, and Romania. From 
these locations, Nixu’s experts work on customer assignments around the 
world. 

More than 30 years of experience in the sector, the best experts in the indus-
try, and a wide range of comprehensive cybersecurity services make Nixu a 
reliable partner for clients, an attractive place to work for cybersecurity ex-
perts, and an interesting investment for shareholders. Founded in 1988, Nixu’s 
shares are listed on the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange (stock symbol: NIXU)

Key Figures 2021

EUR thousand 1.1.-31.12.2021 1.1.-31.12.2020
Revenue 51,809 53,272
Profit/loss for the period -984 -1,835
Earnings per share (EUR) -0.13 -0.25
EBITDA 1,473 2,895
EBITDA, % of net sales 2.8% 5.4%
Adjusted EBITDA1 1,929 3,350
Adjusted EBITDA, % of net sales1 3.7% 6.3%
EBIT -444 -702
EBIT, % of net sales -0.9% -1.3%
Adjusted EBIT1 13 -247
Adjusted EBIT %1 0.0% -0.5%

1 Extraordinary, non-recurring events that do not belong to normal business 
operations are handled as adjustment items. Such extraordinary items are, for 
example, non-recurring costs related to restructurings and acquisitions and 
that are included in other operating expenses. The non-recurring costs includ-
ed in the operating profit of January-December 2021 were EUR 456 thousand 
(455).

2 The figures for the comparison period have been adjusted for Covid-19 NOW 
grant from other operating income to adjustment items. The effect on adjust-
ment items is EUR 337 thousand in Jan-Dec 2020. 

EUR thousand 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Equity ratio, % 31.5% 34.4%
Net interest-bearing debt 3,237 2,244
Net gearing, % 25.3% 16.0%

Nixu: The Pioneer of 
Cybersecurity
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Nixu in brief

Breakdown of  
revenue by  
service type 

Projects and assignments 50%

Total continuous services 35%

Technology resell 15%

51.8
MEUR

PERSONNEL 

389
(2020: 373)

MARKET 
AREAS 

4
(2020: 4)
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INTERNATIONAL 
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CEO’s Review

6

Nixu CEO  
Petri Kairinen:  
A year of  
transformation  
to enable 
growth
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“The year 2021 was a transformation year for Nixu on many fronts. In the 
spring, we launched the Better Together operating model, which pro-
vides all clients the same high-quality Nixu service experience in all our 
operating markets with the help of cross-border operations and teams. 
An important objective of the new operating model is to support the 
profitable growth of markets outside Finland, in particular, and to align 
recruitments on Nixu level. We were able to successfully complete the 
Better Together transformation project by the end of the year, and to 
our delight our clients and employees have welcomed the change. For 
example, we have agreed on new client assignments outside Finland 
that we would not have been able to implement with our old operating 
model. The worst pain of change is already behind us, and in 2022, we 
will be able to enjoy the benefits of our new operating model.

Financially, the transformation year was challenging for us. Our full year 
revenue remained on the same level with the comparison year. Unlike in 
the third quarter, revenue in the fourth quarter did not grow. This was a 
result of, among other things, delays in the start of a few large projects 
by several months due to customer related reasons. However, we were 
very pleased that our IoT and Advisory businesses grew significantly 
during the year and in the last quarter. Employee turnover decreased 
from the previous year, but was still higher than our target level. We were 
successful in recruiting new experts for our international teams and ad-
ditionally launching a trainee program.

The Managed Services Business Area was affected by two significant 
transformations during the year. As part of our efforts to move towards 
more standardized services, we lost a few significant clients. At the same 
time, there was a technological shift in which the Microsoft technolo-
gy-based security monitoring gained a significant foothold in the mar-
ket. The combined effects of these transformations decreased the rev-
enue of Managed Services in the second half, and correspondingly the 
profitability of operations. However, the prerequisites for future growth 
are strongly in place: Jan Mickos, the new leader of Managed Services 
Business Area, who started at Nixu in September, renewed the business 

area at the end of 2021 to better support international operations. In 
addition, our own Microsoft-based security monitoring solution is al-
ready in production. However, we estimate that the Managed Services 
will continue to operate at a loss in the first half of 2022. Our strengths, 
in the area of Managed Services, include in addition to security moni-
toring the high-quality and value-adding services that we provide, by 
example, for investigating data breaches.

We are starting 2022 with great confidence. With our new operating 
model, sales started to pay off well in the fourth quarter, and the client 
orders we received saw double digit growth compared to the fourth 
quarter of the previous year. We have managed to recruit the per-
sonnel required for growth, and the client projects that were delayed 
in the autumn have also got off to a good start. The acceleration of 
the Covid-19 pandemic at the beginning of 2022 has not affected our 
clients’ buying behaviour. Our clients’ trust in us remains strong, as 
reflected in high customer satisfaction for the past year (NPS 70).

Finally, I would like to thank all Nixu employees for their work in en-
abling our new operating model, and in particular for coping with the 
uncertainty caused by the Covid-19 pandemic and the lack of social 
interaction. With the reorganization now complete, we can fully focus 
on keeping the digital society running by providing cybersecurity ser-
vices to our clients throughout Northern Europe, in line with our mis-
sion. At the same time, we aim for a good combination of growth and 
profitability in accordance with our growth ambition.”

7

 ”The prerequisites for future 
growth are strongly in place”
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Highlights of 2021

FEBRUARY:
Nixu renewed its operating model and 
management system and transfered to 
business units to be the go-to partner for 
cybersecurity services for digitalization and 
the best place to work for cybersecurity 
professionals, in line with its strategy.

MARCH: 
Nixu strengthened the composition of its 
Board of Directors when Jari Niska was 
elected as a new Board member at the 
Annual General Meeting held in March. 
Jari Niska has extensive experience in 
leading a successful international growth 
company.

8

Year 2021
Year 2021
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AUGUST:
Jan Mickos was appointed as Nixu 
Corporation’s Business Area Lead, 
Managed Services and member of 
Corporate Leadership Team.

SEPTEMBER: 
Nixu organized a virtual Capital Markets 
Day and published its medium-term 
growth targets for 2022-2025.

APRIL: 
Nixu strengthened its grip on Denmark’s 
fragmented cybersecurity market as 
the Danish C-cure cybersecurity expert 
team joined Nixu’s growing international 
cybersecurity family.

JULY:
In December 2020, the National Security 
Authority of Finland published Katakri 2020, 
the updated information security audit 
criteria for authorities. Nixu Certification 
Ltd was granted accreditation for the 
new qualification area as the first official 
Information Security Inspection Body.

DECEMBER:
Nixu received a significant framework 
agreement from Kela, The Social Insurance 
Institution of Finland. The four-year framework 
agreement tendered and concluded by Kela, 
concerns cybersecurity consulting services.
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Cybersecurity Market

The demand for cybersecurity services is directly linked to the level of digitali-
zation of companies and society. Digitalization requires organizations to pay 
strong attention to cybersecurity and to invest in ensuring the continuity of 
digital business.

The COVID-19 pandemic and the ensuing restrictions led to a large and rapid wave of digitali-
zation in society, the effects of which will continue for a long time to come. The global cyberse-
curity services market is expected to grow at an annual rate of about nearly 8% in 2022-2025. 
However, in Nixu’s market areas in Finland, Sweden, Denmark, and the Netherlands, the growth 
is expected to be even faster, reaching an annual growth rate of about 10%. (Gartner, 2021)

The research company Gartner predicts that cloud and application security solutions will 
be the biggest cybersecurity growth areas in 2022-2025. The focus of investments in in-
formation security is slowly shifting from securing networks and infrastructure to securing 
applications and data. 

The cybersecurity services market is still very fragmented. Nixu believes that over the 
next few years the market will consolidate and mature while the customers will have 
confidence in only a few larger companies that they partner with. Nixu has gained the 
position of a trusted partner for many of its clients. With this position, the customers 
wish Nixu to solve more and diverse challenges. Hence, Nixu’s holistic services expand 
the average size of a customer relationship. Typically, Nixu’s customer base is very 
stable, and customer relationships last for a long time, allowing the building of cus-
tomer-specific expertise.

References:

Gartner Forecast 12/2021: Information Security and Risk Management, Worldwide, 2019-2025, 4Q21

The cybersecurity market  
is growing and evolving  
with digitalization
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Megatrends drive the development of Nixu’s business
Global megatrends serve as growth drivers for the cybersecurity market and shape the development of the 
industry in Nixu’s operating environment. They prompt the development of personnel competence, cybersecurity 
services and operations to ensure that Nixu can respond effectively to the requirements of the operating 
environment and the changing needs of its clients. The Covid-19 crisis and the resulting change in the ways  
of working have accelerated some of the ongoing changes but have not directly created new megatrends. 

THE DIGITALIZATION  
OF SOCIETY

RISE IN  
CYBERCRIME

DEVELOPMENT  
IN LEGISLATION

The rapid digitalization of society, and in 
particular the fourth industrial revolution, 
is a megatrend that will grow the cyber-
security market strongly in the next few 
years, with companies and organizations 
adopting new digital solutions that make 
operations more efficient and create new 
business opportunities. The shortage of 
components and prolonged remote work 
caused by the global Covid-19 pandemic 
have accelerated this change. The rap-
idly growing importance of digitalization 
in society supports the demand for Nixu’s 
services as new digital business models 
depend on digital trust created by com-
prehensive cybersecurity and reliable 
identity management.

Cryptocurrencies that enable anonymous 
payment and the expanded attack surface 
caused by digitalization are contributing 
to the increase in cybercrime, which at the 
same time strongly elevates the need for 
cybersecurity services and the growth of 
the cybersecurity market. Factors such as 
the expanding use of cloud services, digital 
platforms, remote access to industrial con-
trol, and the expanding supply chains have 
increased the impact of cyber-attacks and 
fueled the growth of cybercrime and state 
influencing. Cybercrime is expected to in-
crease and evolve strongly in the future, 
increasing the need for more sophisticat-
ed cybersecurity activities in organizations 
both large and small. The more integrated 
supply chains and the rise in ransom-type 
attacks by cybercriminals are forcing also 
smaller organizations to invest in informa-
tion security.

The changing geopolitical situation and 
legislation impose increasing demands on 
actors in society. Increasing regulation and 
statutory obligations, as well as the repu-
tational and trust risk and financial sanc-
tions associated with non-compliance, will 
increase the demand for cybersecurity 
solutions in the future. An example of this is 
the EU General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR), which entered into force in 2018 
and imposes the same requirements on 
the protection of personal data and data 
privacy in all EU Member States. In addition 
to legislation, organizations’ own security 
standards create the needs to evaluate 
their partners’ level of information security 
and increase the demand for various cer-
tifications and self-assessments.
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Growth Strategy

Nixu’s mission is to keep the digital society running. Accord-
ing to Nixu’s growth strategy the company aims to be the best 
workplace for cybersecurity professionals and the trusted, go-to 
partner for cybersecurity services in digitalization for companies 
headquartered in Northern Europe. 

Nixu growth strategy focuses particularly on cybersecurity services for digital 
business transformation. Nixu is increasingly developing its cybersecurity services 
that enable clients to leverage the Industrial Internet of Things and use of digital 
identities in business. The growth strategy is based on five development areas.

Cybersecurity talent community
As an expert organization, Nixu’s success in its strategic tar-
gets will rely on its ability to retain, recruit and train the best 
cybersecurity specialists in the business. In addition, the 
company’s reputation must be enhanced among the inter-
national cybersecurity community.

Cybersecurity partner for digitalization
Nixu provides its customers with a holistic variety of services 
to serve as a long-time cybersecurity partner. New services 
are being developed specifically to address the security of 
industrial internet platforms.

Data-driven services on global platforms
Nixu wants to transition into a digital business model, that it 
relies on data on shared systems. Not only can the data col-
lected in these systems be used for serving clients, it will also 
allow the company to develop its operations. Nixu’s services 
rely on the solutions of global technology partners.

Expanding market presence
Strategic acquisitions to open new markets are a key factor to 
expand Nixu’s market presence. Acquisitions are financed in 
a manner that optimizes shareholder value, using either debt 
or equity. Nixu wants to serve its clients globally, however, its 
primary network of experts will be established across Europe 
North of Alps.

Profitable, scalable growth
Despite its growth investments, Nixu is building its growth to be scal-
able. As the size of the business grows, relative profitability contin-
ues to improve.

NIXU’S STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT AREAS:Growth Strategy
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Growth Strategy

ACTIONS TARGETS FOR 2022-2025

• Organic revenue growth CAGR 15% 
in 2022-2025

• Inorganic revenue growth CAGR 10% 
in 2022-2025

• EBITDA over 15% of revenue in 2025

• Continuous recurring revenue over 
2/3 of revenue in 2025

Nixu keeps the digital society running.

MISSION

The number one choice as a trusted 
cybersecurity partner in digitalization for 

companies headquartered in Northern 
Europe and the best place to work for 

cybersecurity professionals.

VISION

GROWTH AMBITION 2022-2025
In September 2021, Nixu published its growth ambition statement 
originating from its growth strategy as it saw the opportunity to return 
to a proper growth track. Nixu halted its previous growth ambition and 
targets in spring 2020 as a result of the volatile and unforeseeable 
business environment caused by the Covid-19 pandemic.

• Nixu believes that the cybersecurity services market growth will return to about 10% 
yearly level. Nixu aims to grow faster than the market utilizing both organic and in-
organic growth. The organic growth can be driven from the services already in Nixu’s 
portfolio by especially widening Nixu’s presence in markets outside of Finland in the 
Northern Europe. M&A driven growth will, at the beginning of period, focus on the  
existing markets.

• Nixu has previously invested heavily in building up its international operations and 
new service models, which have had a negative effect on the profitability of the com-
pany. Nixu is now aiming for a more balanced profitable growth approach where 
EBITDA percentage of the company should increase year-on-year and reach 15%  
of revenue level in 2025.

• Nixu expects its technology-based managed continuous services to be growing fast-
er than the professional services. However, in the managed service portfolio the focus 
will also be increasingly on value-adding continuous professional services that are 
working tightly together with the technology components to create a premium offer-
ing. Nixu aims for the share of continuous recurring revenue to be above two-thirds  
of Nixu overall revenue.
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Cybersecurity Partner

Nixu wants to be a holistic and trusted 
cybersecurity partner of digital business 
for companies headquartered in North-
ern Europe.

Nixu’s business operations mainly comprise of pro-
ducing different cybersecurity services to its clients. 
Cybersecurity means technologies, solutions, ser-
vices and other methods that are used to protect 
companies’, other organizations’ and individual us-
ers’ information and information systems in digital 
networks against online crime (cybercrime) and 
other malfunctions. Cybersecurity services refer to 
both professional services and technology-based 
managed services.

Nixu provides a broad range of holistic services to 
best help its clients to address and eliminate the 
challenges and risks of digitalization. This is done 
through the provision of reliable, technology ag-
nostic consultancy and design services, from cy-
berlaw expertise to the incident response of security 
breaches, as well as a variety of managed services 
based on the best technologies to ensure the func-
tioning of digital business models.

NIXU SERVED ABOUT

650
CLIENTS

CLIENT ASSIGNMENTS IN

25
COUNTRIES

CUSTOMER  
SATISFACTION 

70
NPS 

Nixu provides services for clients in several indus-
tries, such as the manufacturing industry, sales, se-
curity-critical state administration, online services, 
banking and financing, telecommunications and 
device manufacturers, and the media. 

Nixu’s clients are typically large, internationally op-
erating companies or government organizations. 
These companies are facing digital transformation 
on many fronts. The emergence of new digital busi-
nesses and the transformation of old business mod-
els, in particular, such as the utilization of Industri-
al Internet (Industrial IoT), will lead to a widespread 
need for cybersecurity expertise within the organiza-
tion even beyond IT departments. 

Nixu has gained the position as a trusted partner 
for many of its clients. With this position, its custom-
ers’ wish Nixu to solve more and diverse challenges. 
Typically, Nixu’s customer base is very stable, and its 
customers are served by Nixu for a long time, allow-
ing building of customer-specific expertise. 

In 2019, Nixu started to measure its customer sat-
isfaction with the Net Promoter Score (NPS), an in-
ternationally recognized measure of customer sat-
isfaction. In 2021, Nixu’s NPS score was 70 (2020: 57) 
which means that customer satisfaction with Nixu’s 
services is at an excellent level.

A holistic cybersecurity partner 
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Services

Nixu’s service concepts IoT
Nixu helps its clients to secure their connected de-

vices by offering wide-ranging consultation and 
development services and continuous cybersecuri-
ty services throughout each product’s life cycle.

Cyber Defense
Nixu helps its clients to ensure their business conti-

nuity by providing effective defensive capabilities 
against cyber threats. Nixu offers tailored solutions 
for creating snapshots of current threats, preventing 

cyberattacks and facilitating rapid recovery.

Cybersecurity outsourcing
Nixu can take care of its client’s cybersecurity envi-
ronment as a whole; the client’s personnel, processes 
and technology – or parts of these. Nixu offers exper-
tise in all key areas of cybersecurity.

Safety and reliability 
In today’s networked environment, Nixu helps its cli-
ents to ensure the continuity of their industrial pro-
duction. To ensure the safety and reliability of in-
dustrial operations, Nixu formulates and implements 

cybersecurity models and creates secure remote 
connections and access management systems tai-
lored to client needs.

Cybersecurity exercises and training
Cyber attacks are the new normal. Fortunately, you 
can prepare for incidents with cybersecurity exercises 
and practice how to detect, react, and communi-

cate. After the activities, your organization has better 
capabilities for detecting cyberattacks before your 
business is endangered.

Nixu’s service concepts can include parts of several 
cybersecurity areas and technologies of third par-
ties. Services and solutions created on the basis of 
the client’s needs can be delivered to the client either 
as one-time consultation projects, technology-based 
implementation projects, or productized continuous 
services.

Security engineering
We improve the security in all phases of the develop-
ment lifecycle of applications, services and hardware you  
develop or purchase. 

Digital Identity
Nixu enables reliable digital transformation on the terms 

of the business. Nixu helps its clients to ensure that reli-
ability, security, and business continuity will be taken into 
account in all phases of digital transformation.

Cloud transformation
Nixu helps its clients to utilize cloud services in a reliable 

and secure manner by ensuring that the cloud service 
used is secure and that the risks can be managed. 

Compliance and certification
Nixu’s service portfolio includes a wide range of cyberse-
curity compliance consultation and assessment services.

15
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Services

CASE:  
Outokumpu
Detection capability supports  
Outokumpu’s business continuity.

Outokumpu, a global leader in stainless steel 
manufacturing, has found multiple benefits in 
outsourcing their IT security monitoring to Nixu  
Cyber Defense Center. Outokumpu can focus on  
its core work as Nixu’s cybersecurity experts stay  
alert around the clock.

16

Nixu ensures Outokumpu’s  
preparedness for cyber threats  
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CASE: Danfoss
The globally operating manufacturing and 
engineering company Danfoss transitioned 
with Nixu’s support to a modern Identi-
ty Governance and Administration (IGA) 
solution to manage its over 40,000 digital 
identities. 

Nixu handled the implementation and integration 
of the new solution as well as technical support 
once the system went live. The project received 
industry recognition, winning the award of Identity 
Fabrics & Enterprise IAM Project of the Year in Kup-
pingerCole’s European Identity and Cloud Confer-
ence in September 2021.

Transition to the cloud:  
Danfoss implements new  
IGA solution with Nixu’s support
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Services

CASE: Keva
Keva, the largest pension agency in 
Finland, is committed to developing its 
ability to prepare for and respond to  
cyber threats. 

With the help of Nixu’s extensive cyber exercise, Keva 
is now more prepared than ever for any unexpect-
ed situations. The core of the exercise focused on 
comprehensive crisis management – how Keva can 
make decisions while keeping everyone informed of 
its status, even during a major crisis.

18

Preparing with Nixu’s  
cyber exercise
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Personnel

The new operating model enables close cooperation between Nixu’s business units, 
providing clients with even better service and comprehensive solutions. Thanks to 
the new operating model, Nixu’s experts will be able to work flexibly across organi-
zational and country borders. This offers employees better opportunities to build up 
their expertise as the operating model brings new interesting international projects 
and client assignments to experts. The operating model also supports the career 
development of employees by enabling job rotation and transfers between teams 
and business units. 

With the new operating model, Nixu employees have been offered training to sup-
port teamwork in decentralized teams. Nixu also promoted the development of a 
unified leadership culture by organizing a leadership development program for 
team leaders to improve leadership skills and provide practical tools for leadership.

In 2021, Nixu also adopted the GoodHabitz, learning platform, to support competence 
development, which provided employees with a wide range of learning solutions 
related to new digital skills, language studies, leadership and teamwork skills, im-
proving health and safety, developing personal communication skills and support-
ing personal strengths. Employees have been able to use the comprehensive train-
ing content in accordance with their own interests, but also to support work-related 
development areas. 

Nixu’s key asset is its personnel. Therefore, it is vital to ensure 
well-being at work, a healthy balance between work and lei-
sure time as well as equality and equal opportunities for all 
Nixu employees. In the ever-evolving cybersecurity industry, 
Nixu also wants to invest in its employees’ continuous learning 
and competence development.

Nixu’s cybersecurity community consists of multitalented and skilled cyberse-
curity professionals with best-in-class expertise. They share a genuine passion 
for cybersecurity and the hunger to continuously develop their professional 
skills. Nixu had 389 (373) employees at the end of 2021. Full-time employees 
accounted for 94% of Nixu’s personnel, and 98% of the employment contracts 
were valid until further notice. The average career length was 4,7 years. 15% of 
the personnel were over 50 years of age and 17% were under 31, with the average 
age being 41. At the end of 2021, 24% of Nixu’s personnel were women and 76% 
were men. Nixu had offices in Finland, Sweden, the Netherlands, Denmark, and 
Romania, with employees representing 16 nationalities.

Better Together operating model to support com-
petence development
During 2021, Nixu moved to a new international Better Together operating model 
and management system with the aim of increasing client intimacy and focus, 
strengthening the competence development of its cybersecurity experts, and 
improving profitability through more efficient service delivery.

The best place to work for cybersecurity 
professionals
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Personnel

WOMEN 24 % 
MEN 76 %

NUMBER OF PERSONNEL

389

16
NATIONALITIES

AVERAGE AGE OF  
EMPLOYEES 

41
AVERAGE CAREER  

LENGTH

5
YEARS

20

Nixu’s values: We are professional, collaborative,  
humane and passionate about cybersecurity
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Personnel

Well-being at work: Hybrid mod-
el as part of everyday life during 
the pandemic
During the prolonged coronavirus pandemic, re-
mote working has become a familiar way of life for 
the majority of personnel. Nixu started to utilize re-
mote work guidance that took into account a hybrid 
model that combines remote and onsite-work and 
the individual’s right to influence the way they work 
at the office or remotely. During the pandemic, the 
hybrid model has enabled Nixu to make smooth use 
of the flexibility of remote work and the social di-
mension of onsite-work, as well as to foster a sense 
of belongingness to the community that is import-
ant to Nixuans. The new teams, formed during the 
pandemic, have been able to team up and meet 
each other both remotely and at the office in con-
nection with information sharing and the building of 
team spirit, within the limits set by the pandemic re-
strictions.

Nixu made efforts to support the well-being of the 
personnel with the GoodHabitz learning platform, 
occupational well-being webinar and various coun-
try-specific measures. In Finland, for example, the 
ePassi mobile application was adopted, allowing 
Nixu’s personnel to use employee benefits for a wide 
range of services, in addition to sports and cultur-
al services, that support well-being. The sports and 
hobby clubs supported by Nixu continued to operate 
under the coronavirus restrictions even during the 
exceptional period. 

Job satisfaction at a good level
Nixu wants to be the best place to work for cyber-
security professionals, therefore job satisfaction is 
of paramount importance to it. Employee satisfac-
tion is measured by the Nixu Pulse survey conduct-
ed quarterly. Job satisfaction remained at a good 
level in 2021. The employees highlighted Nixu’s new 
international operating model, human-centered 
approach, colleagues, community and hybrid work 
as positive aspects. The importance of good lead-
ership emerged as a development item in the Pulse 
survey. Nixu answered to this feedback during 2021 
whit a leadership development program that was 
organized for team leaders. 

In 2021, a new section was added to the Pulse survey 
to gather peer-to-peer recognition and kudos from 
the organization to individuals and teams with the 
aim of encouraging feedback and highlighting a job 
well done. The collected recognitions were shared 
with Nixu employees at the company’s most import-
ant personnel events. During 2021, a total of 184 indi-
viduals and 18 teams were recognized through this 
new channel. 

Employer image
In 2021, Nixu continued consistently to strengthen 
its employer image and enhance its reputation by 
promoting cooperation between Nixu’s personnel 
and the broader cybersecurity community through 
various events and training. The company organized 
and supported several events for cybersecurity 
communities, worked in close collaboration with ed-
ucational institutions, and sought to promote cyber-
security at the societal level in the countries where 
Nixu operates. 

Among other things, Nixu once again organized 
an annual Nixu Challenge, aimed especially at 
young people. In Sweden, Nixu was one of the 
main sponsors of the well-known MidnightSun 
CTF event, which gathers together the world’s 
best ethical hackers. In Finland, Nixu partici-
pated in the Generation Z Challenge (spon-
sored by the Finnish Information Security 
Cluster, numerous companies and author-
ities) at which young people were able to 
safely practice their ethical hacking skills 
online. In addition, Nixu joined forces 
with Academic Work in Finland to cre-
ate a comprehensive and intensive 
12-week training program for attract-
ing new talent into the cybersecurity 
industry. Nine of these training par-
ticipants started working at Nixu in 
October 2021. 

In 2021, according to the survey 
conducted by Universum, Nixu 
was again one of the most at-
tractive employers in Finland 
among IT professionals and 
IT students, ranking 40th and 
37th. This is an excellent 
achievement, as Nixu oper-
ates in a fairly specialized 
competence area and 
targets its services only 
at enterprise customers, 
which naturally affects 
Nixu’s visibility to the 
general public.
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Emelie Eriksson Thörnell
Business Manager, ISMS

At Nixu, we have a large variety of clients, and 
assignments and that keeps my work exciting.

My journey at Nixu began in 2017 when our team, 
part of a Swedish company, had just recently 
been acquired by Nixu in the Swedish market. 
First, I was working as an Information Securi-
ty Consultant, and in 2019 I was promoted to 
be the Team Lead for the Information Security 
Management System (ISMS) team in Sweden. 
In 2021, Nixu transferred to a new international 
Better Together operating model. The transfor-
mation brought together the advisory business 
units from all countries. Combining the teams 
has made it easier to collaborate with collea-
gues located in different countries as well as 
made knowledge sharing easier. 

In advisory consulting, I get to be part of deve-
loping organizations’ information management 
systems, among other things, and that gives me 
good visibility to the entire cybersecurity field. I 
am truly motivated to have such developing 
assignments that constantly challenge me to 
learn new things and develop my skills. 

Chamundeeswari Sanghvi 
Security Specialist, IGA

Nixu is always ready to offer new opportuni-
ties, given that you are interested and ready to 
take on new challenges.

About a year ago, I started at Nixu as an Identity 
Governance and Administration (IGA) develo-
per. I was already involved in real customer pro-
jects from day one with the help of professional 
training from Nixu. Currently, I work as an IGA 
Architect on different projects with customers 
from Norway, Denmark and Finland. Just re-
cently, I moved from Finland to The Netherlands. 
Thanks to our truly international Better-Together 
operating model, my move was very smooth, 
and I continue to work in the same team with 
the same clients, but just from another location. 
I am also going to be part of new client projects 
in the Benelux region.

Nixu is always ready to offer new opportunities, 
given you are interested and ready to take on 
new challenges. I recently took up the opportu-
nity to become a coach within Nixu and have 
also been receiving pre-sales training. I look 
forward to seeing where my path at Nixu takes 
me next

Juha Fiskari 
Business Unit Lead, Managed Capabilities

At Nixu, we trust in the professionalism and 
decision-making of our employees, and we 
are given freedom and responsibility. It is pos-
sible to expand expertise by moving from one 
task to another and experimenting with diffe-
rent things at Nixu. 

My cybersecurity career began at Nixu in 2008, 
when I started to serve as Information Securi-
ty Management Consultant and began to build 
services and their continuity. My first continuous 
service was the Information Security Manage-
ment Service, the core of which is renting out 
Chief Information Security Officers. I worked as 
CISO for two clients while leading our Nixu team. 
Today, this service is still part Nixu’s service of-
fering in the Advisory Business Unit. At the end 
of 2017, I moved to Amsterdam to expand Nixu’s 
local business and to lead Identity and Access 
Management and Engineering teams. When 
I returned to Finland, at the beginning of 2020, 
I worked for a short time in the Advisory Busi-
ness unit on information security management 
consulting projects, after which I started to build 
and develop the scanning services full-time as 
profitable business for Nixu. 

Today, I work as Business Unit Lead of Managed 
Capabilities and continue to coach Advisory Unit’s 
information security management professionals.
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The Board of Director´s Report

The development of Nixu Group in the  
accounting period of January 1, 2021 – 
December 31, 2021
Nixu Group’s revenue stood at EUR 51,809 (53,272) thou-
sand. Revenue decreased by -3% from the previous year.

Development of revenue by service type: 

• Projects and assignments accounted for 50% (50%) of 
the revenue, decreased by -2% compared to the previ-
ous year.

• All continuous services accounted for 35% (37%) of the 
revenue and decreased by -8% compared to the previ-
ous accounting period. All continuous services include: 

•  Managed services, which accounted for 19% (20%) 
of revenue and decreased by -5% compared to the 
previous accounting period.

•  Continuous services accounted for a 16% (17%) share 
of the revenue and decreased by -11% from the pre-
vious year. 

• Technology resale accounted for 15% (13%) of the revenue.

Other operating income stood at EUR -123 (533) thousand.

Nixu’s EBITDA was EUR 1,473 (2,895) thousand. EBITDA was 
weakened by a decrease in revenue from the previous year 
as expenses remained at the same level.

Adjusted EBITDA was EUR 1,929 (3,687) thousand. The ad-
justment items of EUR 456 (455) thousand were related to 
COVID-19 NOW benefits and reorganization costs both in the 
current and comparison period. COVID-19 NOW benefit weak-
ened EBITDA by EUR 337 thousand during the review period 
and improved EBITDA by EUR 337 thousand in the comparison 
period. 

Nixu’s EBIT was EUR -444 (-702) thousand. In addition to 
the above, EBIT was affected by depreciations and impair-
ments amounting to EUR 1,917 (3,597) thousand. In the pre-
vious year EBIT was affected by an impairment of EUR 1,420 
thousand on goodwill.

Financial income and expenses amounted EUR -514 (-666) 
thousand. 

The result for the year was EUR -984 (-1,835) thousand. 

Financing and investments 
On December 31, 2021, Nixu Group’s balance sheet total was 
EUR 40,710 (40,712) thousand. 

The company’s cash in hand on December 31, 2021 was EUR 
4,080 (6,031) thousand. The company has two credit facilities 
of EUR 5,500 thousand altogether. The credit facilities were 
not in use at the end of the review period.

In the next 12 months a loan of EUR 2,065 thousand is ma-
turing.

Net liabilities on December 31, 2021 amounted to EUR 3,237 

(2,244) thousand. The change in net liabilities was mainly 
due to the decrease in cash in hand.

Net cash flow from operating activities was EUR 138 (5,275) 
thousand. Cash flow from operating activities was affected 
by the postponed tax payments, impact of EUR 1,215 thousand.

Group structure
At the end of the financial year, the Group consisted of the 
following 100%-owned companies by the parent company: 
Nixu Certification Oy, Nixu B.V., Nixu AB and Nixu A/S. In ad-
dition, the Nixu Group consisted of Nixu Cybersecurity Srl. 
owned by Nixu B.V. 96% and Nixu Oyj by 4%.

Key indicators for the group

The financial period Jan 1, 2021 – Dec 31, 2021 was the company’s 33rd. The 
following key figures represent the company’s financial status and its results:

EUR thousand 2021 2020 2019
Revenue 51,809 53,272 51,168
EBIT -444 -702 -2,628
EBIT, % of net sales -0.9% -1.3% -5.1%
Equity ratio, % 31.5% 34.4% 37.3%
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Personnel 
The number of personnel was 389 ( 373) at the end of 2021, 
which started to grow as the company continued its deter-
mined work to increase the number of its personnel through 
new recruitments. During 2021, Nixu moved to a new inter-
national Better Together operating model. The new oper-
ating model supports collaboration across borders and 
enables individuals to have more diverse assignments at 
Nixu. As the pandemic situation improved during the re-
view period, Nixu began to implement a hybrid model that 
combines both remote and onsite work in order to benefit 
the flexibility of remote work and the social dimension the 
onsite work.

Nixu’s employee satisfaction is measured quarterly. In 2021, 
job satisfaction remained at a good level. In the survey, the 
employees highlighted positive aspects, such the new in-
ternational operating model, the flexibility of hybrid work, 
interesting assignments and the work community. Good 
leadership emerged in the survey as an important factor 
influencing employee satisfaction, and therefore Nixu or-
ganized a management training program for team leaders.

In addition to its own employees, Nixu strives to support 
the wider cybersecurity talent community. Nixu’s corporate 
culture encourages the sharing of expertise to the interna-
tional cybersecurity community, of which Nixu is an active 
member. During the review period, Nixu collaborated with 

cybersecurity communities and educational institutions in 
the field, and organized and supported several cybersecu-
rity related events. Nixu also strives to promote cybersecu-
rity at a social level.

Management
During the accounting period, Nixu’s Board of Directors 
consisted of Kimmo Rasila (Chairman), Marko Kauppi 
(Deputy Chairman), Jaya Baloo, Kati Hagros, Anders Silwer, 
Tuija Soanjärvi (until March 30, 2021), and Jari Niska as a 
new ordinary Member of the Board of Directors (from March 
30, 2021).

The Audit Committee consisted of the following members 
until the AGM on March 30, 2021: Tuija Soanjärvi (Chair), 
Marko Kauppi and Anders Silwer. As of March 30, 2021, the 
Audit Committee consisted of Jari Niska (Chair), Marko 
Kauppi and Anders Silwer. 

In 2021, the Personnel and Remuneration Committee con-
sisted of the following members: Kati Hagros (Chair), Jaya 
Baloo and Kimmo Rasila. 

The auditor of the company was the authorized public ac-
countants PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy and Enel Sintonen, 
Authorized Public Accountant acting as the principal au-
ditor.

Members of Nixu Corporate Leadership Team 
during the accounting period: 

Nixu Corporation’s Leadership team consisted of 1 January 
2021 - 28 February 2021: Petri Kairinen (CEO), Janne Kärk-
käinen (CFO), Kim Westerlund (Chief Development Officer), 
Katja Müller (Chief People Officer), Jesper Svegby (Chief 
Commercial Officer), Valtteri Peltomäki (Market Area Lead-
er, Finland), Björn-Erik Karlsson (Market Area Leader, Swe-
den), Errit Müller (Market Area Leader, Denmark), Pietari 
Sarjakivi (Senior Adviser).

Nixu renewed its operating model and changed its organ-
isational structure to international during the first quarter. 
As a result, the composition of Nixu’s Corporate Leadership 
Team changed on March 1, 2021, including the CEO, CFO, 
CPO and Business Area Leaders.

Nixu Corporate Leadership Team as of March 1, 2021:

• Petri Kairinen, Chief Executive Officer

• Janne Kärkkäinen, Chief Financial Officer

• Katja Müller, Chief People Officer

• Valtteri Peltomäki, SVP Client Experience

• Björn-Erik Karlsson, SVP Expert Services

• Mats Lindgren, SVP Market Expansion  
(until September 30, 2021)

• Pietari Sarjakivi, SVP Labs

• Jan Mickos, SVP Managed Services  
(as of September 8, 2021)Key figures for Personnel 

2021 2020 2019
Average number during the accounting period 385 399 388
Wages and salaries during the accounting period (EUR 1,000) 25,841 27,505 25,402
Average employment (years) 4.7 5.0 4.5
Average age (years) 40.7 41.8 40.6
Permanent employees 98% 99% 96%
Part-time employees 6% 5% 6%
Women’s share of the group’s personnel 24% 21% 21%
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Shares issue decisions during the financial year: 

The AGM authorized the Board of Directors to resolve on 
the repurchase of the company’s own shares in one or 
several installments as follows:

Up to 720,110 shares, shares can be repurchased using 
funds belonging to the unrestricted equity of the company. 
The proposed amount corresponds to approximately ten 
(10) per cent of all the shares in the company on the date of 
the notice, taking the company’s own shares already held 
by the company into account.

Acquisitions under the authorization are proposed to be 
curry out on the marketplace of which rules allow the com-
pany to trade with its own shares. The shares shall be repur-
chased through public trading on the marketplaces where 
the shares in the company are admitted to public trading. 
The consideration to be paid for the purchased shares shall 
be based on the market price. 

The shares may be repurchased to implement the compa-
ny’s arrangements in relation to the company’s business 
operations, to the implementation of the company’s share-
based incentive programs or to be otherwise transferred or 
canceled. In addition, the company can repurchase shares 
from the marketplace for a Member of the Board of Direc-

tors in order to pay the remunerations of the Members of 
the Board of Directors, either in whole or in part. The repur-
chased shares can also be held by the company itself. 

The Board of Directors is authorized to resolve on all oth-
er conditions and matters related to the repurchase of the 
company’s own shares. The repurchase of the company’s 
own shares will reduce the unrestricted equity of the com-
pany.

The authorization is proposed to remain in force until the 
next AGM, however, up to June 30, 2022, whichever is the 
earliest and it would replace the authorization granted by 
the earlier AGM regarding on the repurchase of the com-
pany’s own shares.

Authorization for a share issue

The AGM authorized the Board of Directors to decide on the 
issuance of new shares through a share issue or by grant-
ing other special rights entitling to shares, referred to in 
Chapter 10, Section 1 of the Finnish Companies Act, and/or 
disposing shares held by the company as follows:

The Board of Directors may, in one or more tranches, is-
sue new shares or grant special rights entitling to shares in 

accordance with Chapter 10, Section 1 of the Companies 
Act and dispose treasury shares. The total number of 
shares to be issued under the authorization may not ex-
ceed 1,485,000. The authorization includes the right to de-
cide to issue either new shares or treasury shares either 
against payment or without consideration. 

New shares or treasury shares may be issued in deviation 
from the shareholder’s pre-emptive rights, if there exists a 
weighty financial reason for the company to implement 
such directed share issue or, in the case of an issue without 
consideration, an especially weighty financial reason for it 
both for the company and with regard to the interests of all 
shareholders in the company. 

The Board of Directors is authorized to resolve on the other 
terms and conditions as well as actions pertaining to the is-
suance of shares, option rights and to the granting of other 
special rights entitling to shares as well as the disposal of 
treasury shares.

Shares and shareholders

NIXU Shares traded Total value (EUR) High (EUR) Low (EUR) Average price (EUR) Latest (EUR)
Jan-Jun 2021 1,336,041 12,905,757 11.95 8.00 9.80 8.10
Jul-Dec 2021 2,043,454 15,243,770 8.50 6.54 7.37 7.02
Jan-Dec 2021 3,379,495 28,149,528 11.95 6.54 8.55 7.02

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Market capitalization (EUR) 52,114,325 71,215,071
Number of shareholders 5,152 3,987
Total number of shares 7,425,219 7,425,219
Number of the company´s own shares held by the company 1,526 22,405

Nixu has one share serie. Each share entitles the holder to equal voting and dividend rights.  
Nixu’s shares are listed on the Official List of Nasdaq in Helsinki Stock Exchange.
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The authorization may be exercised to develop the capital 
structure, expand the ownership base, for the payment of 
consideration in transactions, when acquiring assets re-
lated to the company’s business operations and to imple-
ment incentive programmers so that the shares are issued 
directly to the employees and CEOs of the company and 
its subsidiaries. The proposed maximum number of shares 
corresponds to approximately 20 per cent of all the regis-
tered shares in the company and out of this authorization, 
number of shares corresponding up to 5 per cent of all the 
registered shares in the company can be used as an in-
centive for the personnel.

The authorization is proposed to remain in force until the 
next AGM, however, up to June 30, 2022, whichever is the 
earliest, and it would replace the previous authorizations 
granted regarding a directed share issue and the disposal 
of treasury shares.

Flagging Notifications
According to the notification, the aggregate ownership of 
OP-Suomi Pienyhtiöt and OP-Suomi Mikroyhtiöt investment 
funds, managed by OP-Rahastoyhtiö Oy, in Nixu Corpora-
tion’s shares decreased under five per cent threshold on 
June 23, 2021. (Stock Exchange Release on June 28, 2021)

Research and Development
During 2021, Nixu implemented internal development proj-
ects and the Group recognized research and development 
costs amounting to EUR 747 (775) thousand through profit 
or loss in the financial year that ended December 31, 2021.

In connection with the operating model change in 2021, Nixu 
established the Labs Business Area focused on innovation 
and support for new business. The change strengthened 
Nixu’s ability to foresee market changes and provide cus-
tomers with new cybersecurity services to secure digitali-
zation. With the Labs Business Area, Nixu has invested espe-
cially in securing the Internet of Things by bringing together 
the best experts in the industry in its new IoT Business Unit. 

In 2021, Nixu developed further its capabilities to protect 
and monitor cloud environments by introducing Security 

Operations Center offering based purely on cloud native 
technologies. During the review period, Nixu also worked 
with an initiative aimed at launching services that enable 
its customers to safely decentralize cloud environment 
management and identify the attack surface. 

During 2021, Nixu continued its development project to 
achieve the ISO 27001 Information Security Certification in 
the first quarter of 2022. With the project, Nixu has unified 
and developed the processes and security practices of its 
Information Security Management System on a group-level. 

In addition to revenue-funded development projects, Nixu 
has participated during 2021 in national and internation-
al projects, which have received funding from the EU and 
Business Finland, among others. Nixu has, for example, con-
tributed to the emergence of the foundations of digital so-
ciety and the data economy in several collaboration proj-
ects. Finland’s Authentication Cooperative was established 
in autumn 2021 as a continuation to the SisuID project. Nixu 
is one of the founders and investors of the open coopera-
tive together with the Finnish Broadcasting Company Yleis-
radio, Alma Media and Digital Living International. The new 
national authentication service, to be launched for con-
sumers at the end of 2022, will provide commercial global 
authentication services with a national cost-effective al-
ternative that respects customer relationship and privacy. 
With the cooperative model, the service can be developed 
in cooperation with companies across industries and mar-
ket needs. 

In addition, Findy consortium’s Findynet Cooperative, which 
aims at developing a common, shared and secure network 
of verifiable data, was established in 2021. The Findynet 
Cooperative can be joined by all public and private sector 
organizations wishing to ensure the building, management 
and development of a verifiable data network. 

Its services can be used by all public and private sector 
organizations that want to provide digital data wallets to 
end users. The project also aims to work closely with public 
administration to enable a digital identity wallet defined at 
the EU level. 

Nixu has also participated in the Virtual Finland project of 
the Ministry for Foreign Affairs of Finland, which aims to pro-
mote the digitalization of Finland’s international exchange 

of information and service processes, in other respects en-
try. With the plan produced in spring 2021, the Virtual Fin-
land project has been able to focus on developing the ar-
chitecture of the national data economy and the necessary 
infrastructure in collaboration with other national projects.

Risks and uncertainties
Nixu identifies and manages risks, as a part of its normal 
business activities. The identified risks in Nixu’s risk man-
agement have been described below, which, if realized, 
could have a great impact on the company’s result.

Although Nixu has adapted its operations during the 
Covid-19 pandemic, the continued and continuously 
changing Covid-19 pandemic increases in the likelihood of 
personnel related risks. The Covid-19 pandemic may affect 
different countries in different ways, depending on local 
constraints on the spread of the disease.

Nixu Employees’ health and ability to work, and thus the 
continuity of operations and services, is the most signifi-
cant Covid-19 specific risk for Nixu. The continued pandem-
ic has influenced the well-being of Nixu employees. The fu-
ture hybrid way of working may also have negative impact 
on the employee well-being and in addition the turnover of 
employees may increase because of frustration in relation 
to Covid-19. 

There are operational risks involved in Nixu’s business ac-
tivities, specifically in malfunctions in Nixu’s IT systems and 
equipment, or an interruption in availability. Malfunctions in 
them may lead to the company not being able to produce 
its services as agreed. 

Nixu’s services are partly based on services and products 
provided by third parties, and dependent on their continu-
ity, technical quality and the quality of third party services. 
Vendors’ service performance has a direct impact on Nixu’s 
service profitability. In the worst case, the company may 
even lose clients because of poor service quality produced 
by one of the third parties.

Nixu handles customer information in its operations. A 
breach to Nixu’s systems and materialized cybersecurity 
threat may cause significant direct or indirect damage to 
company’s operations.
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In their activities, Nixu processes personal client data. In ad-
dition, the company is the register keeper of the personal 
information of its own personnel. Eventual shortcomings in 
following the legislation, if realized, may result in substantial 
direct and indirect adverse consequences to Nixu.

Unexpected delays and extra work are typical for large 
projects, adding uncertainty factors which may cause Nixu 
to incur additional costs. Moreover, Nixu may not always 
be able to allocate personnel resources, schedule tasks for 
long-term projects or plan its operations as required based 
on its predictions. In case this continues, the problems in al-
location of personal resources may have negative impact 
to Nixu’s profits. There may also be problems in providing 
constant services, which may accrue costs to Nixu. In its ac-
tivities, additionally, the company has a usual risk of ending 
up in conflicts with its clients which pertain to the contents 
of agreements.

Although Nixu’s strategy relies mainly on organic growth, 
the company is also constantly searching for growth op-
portunities from acquisitions. If the acquired companies 
do not meet the set targets or if Nixu fails to integrate the 
acquired companies, both could seriously disrupt the com-
pany’s operations. Potential acquisitions can also present 
unexpected risks and latent liabilities for which the compa-
ny cannot prepare in advance.

Nixu’s business requires great trust from its clients. Informa-
tion security attacks are aimed at our clients’ systems and 
potential problems in Nixu’s services may result in substan-
tial direct and indirect adverse consequences to Nixu. 

The financing agreements of the company include con-
ventional covenant conditions, which, if breached, may 
complicate the company’s financial position, especially 
in situations in which creditor would not consent to the 
renegotiation of said conditions, or providing their con-
sent for the breaching of the covenant conditions. 

Nixu operates in a highly competitive market. If com-
petition increases, Nixu may lose market share and see 
a decrease in its margins. Losing any of the ten largest 
clients or losing a significant number of clients from the 
continuous services client base within a short period of 
time may also affect the company’s profitability.

As part of its growth strategy, the company invests 
heavily in its continuous, scalable services business. The 

business models, methods, and the promised service 
levels in the services business are different from those in 
the consultancy business. Implementing these changes 
can be challenging, potentially causing substantial di-
rect and indirect consequences for Nixu. 

There is a strong demand for skilled cybersecurity pro-
fessionals in the current labor market, which has in-
creased employee turnover and can lead to slower re-
cruitment and increased salary costs. The demand for 
the services provided by the company may decrease if 
the company is unable to maintain the competence of 
its personnel at the correct technical level and adapt to 
changes in its clients’ business operations.

Future outlook
The COVID-19 pandemic and the ensuing restrictions led 
to a wide and rapid wave of digitalisation in society, the 
impact of which will continue for a long time to come. The 
demand for cybersecurity services is directly linked to the 
level of digitalization of companies and society, as digitali-
zation requires organizations to pay great attention to cy-
bersecurity and invest in ensuring the continuity of digital 
business operations. 

The global cybersecurity services market is expected to 
grow at an annual rate of nearly 8% in 2022–2025. However, 
in Nixu’s market areas in Finland, Sweden, Denmark and the 
Netherlands, the growth is expected to be faster, reaching 
an annual growth rate of about 10%. (Gartner, 2021)

Events after the review period
Nixu Corporation received a notification pursuant to Chap-
ter 9, Section 5 of the Securities Markets Act from Aktia Ra-
hastoyhtiö Oy on January 3, 2022. According to the noti-
fication, the aggregate ownership of Aktia Mikro Markka, 
Aktia Nordic Micro Cap, Aktia Nordic Small Cap, Aktia Se-
cura investment funds, managed by Aktia Rahastoyhtiö Oy, 
in Nixu Corporation’s shares increased above five per cent 
threshold on January 1, 2022. (Stock exchange release on 
January 3, 2022)

The Nixu Board of Directors and CEO Petri Kairinen agreed 
together that Nixu’s CEO will change for the next growth 
phase. Kairinen resigned on February 14, 2022 to join an-
other company. He will continue as Nixu’s CEO for the time 
being and will be available to serve Nixu until June 2022. 
(Stock Exchange Release, on February 14, 2022)

Financial Guidance for 2022
Nixu estimates its revenue to grow and its EBITDA to 
increase from the previous financial year.

The Board of Directors’ proposal for the 
distribution of profits

On December 31, 2021, the parent company’s assets sub-
ject to profit distribution amounted to EUR 16,219,856.71 of 
which the profit for the year amounts to EUR 168,156.86. 
The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General 
Meeting that no dividend be paid for 2021. 

There have been no significant changes in Nixu’s financial 
status after the close of the financial year.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

EUR thousand Note 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020

Revenue 2.1 51,809 53,272
Other operating income 2.4 -123 533
Materials and services 2.3 -12,944 -12,245
Employee benefit expenses 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 -31,791 -33,456
Other operating expenses 2.4 -5,479 -5,210
Depreciation and amortization 4.2, 6.1 - 1,917 -2,176
Impairment charges 4.2 0 -1,420
OPERATING RESULT -444 -702

Finance income 5.2 27 3
Finance expenses 5.2 -453 -566
Interest expenses on lease payments 5.2, 6.2 -87 -103
Finance income and expenses, net -514 -666

Result before taxes -958 -1,368

Income tax expense 2.5 -26 -468
RESULT FOR THE PERIOD -984 -1,835

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Translation differences -101 223
Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax -101 223

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD -1,085 -1,612

Result for the period attributable to:
Owners of the parent -984 -1,835

RESULT FOR THE PERIOD -984 -1,835

Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to:
Owners of the parent -1,085 -1,612
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME -1,085 -1,612

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the owners of the parent during the year 2.6
Basic and diluted earnings per share, EUR -0.13 -0.25

Notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

EUR thousand Note 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Goodwill 4.2 12,613 12,716
Other intangible assets 4.2 2,093 2,509
Tangible assets 6.1 253 404
Right-of-use assets 6.1, 6.2 2,139 2,555
Other receivables 265 252
Shares and similar rights of ownership 30 0
Deferred tax assets 8.1 170 62
Total non-current assets 17,563 18,499

Current assets
Inventories 0 6
Trade receivables and other receivables 7.1 18,734 16,140
Current income tax receivables 333 35
Cash and cash equivalents 4,080 6,031
Total current assets 23,148 22,213

TOTAL ASSETS 40,710 40,712

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 95 95
Invested unrestricted equity reserve 19,314 19,314
Translation differences -465 -364
Retained earnings -5,149 -3,203
Result for the period -984 -1,835
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent 3.2, 5.4 12 811 14,007

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 5.1, 5.3 2,365 4,971
Lease liabilities 5.1, 6.2 900 1,447
Deferred tax liabilities 8.1 195 215
Other non-current liabilities 283 282
Total non-current liabilities 3,743 6,916

Current liabilities
Borrowings 5.1, 5.3 2,686 621
Lease liabilities 5.1, 6.1 1,366 1,237
Trade payables and other payables 7.2 20,080 17,336
Current income tax liabilities 24 596
Total current liabilities 24 157 19,789
Total liabilities 27,899 26,705
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 40,710 40,712

Notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EUR thousand Note 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020
Cash flows from operating activities
Result for the period -984 -1,835
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 4.2, 6.1 1,917 3,597
Other non-cash adjustments1 -100 279
Finance income and expenses, net 5.2 507 666
Income tax expense 2.5 26 468

Changes in working capital
Change in trade receivables and other receivables -2,596 -102
Change in inventories 6 -2
Change in trade payables and other payables 2,814 2,861

Interests paid -378 -403
Other finance income and expenses, net -54 -126
Income taxes paid -1,019 -127
Net cash flows generated from operating activities 138 5,275

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of tangible assets 6.1 -10 -76
Purchases of intangible assets 4.2 -8 -96
Other investments -19 0
Proceeds from loans receivable 0 366
Net cash from investing activities -37 194

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of borrowings 5.1 -625 -1,737
Purchase of own shares 5.4 0 -91
Lease liability repayments 5.1 -1,398 -1,547
Net cash from financing activities -2,023 -3,375

Net decrease(-)/increase in cash and cash equivalents -1,921 2,094
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 6,031 3,923
Exchange gains/losses (-) on cash and cash equivalents -30 14
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 4,080 6,031

1) Primarily comprises the adjustment of personnel costs recognized for share-based compensation. 

Notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to owners of the parent

EUR thousand Note
Share  

capital

Invested  
unrestricted  

equity reserve

Cumulative  
translation  

difference
Retained  
earnings Total 

Equity at 1 Jan 2020 95 19,314 -587 -3,436 15,385

Result for the period -1,835 -1,835
Other comprehensive income for the period:

Translation differences 223 223
Total comprehensive income for the period 0 0 223 -1,835 -1,612

Transactions with owners:
Share based payments to employees 4.1, 5.4 0 324 324
Purchase of own shares 5.4 -91 -91
Total transactions with owners: 0 0 0 234 234

EQUITY AT 31 DEC 2020 95 19,314 -364 -5,038 14,007

Equity at 1 Jan 2021 95 19,314 -364 -5,038 14,007

Result for the period -984 -984
Other comprehensive income for the period:

Translation differences -101 -101
Total comprehensive income for the period 0 0 -101 -984 -1,085

Transactions with owners:
Share based payments 4.1, 5.4 -111 -111
Total transactions with owners: 0 0 0 -111 -111

EQUITY AT 31 DEC 2021 95 19,314 -465 -6,133 12,811

Notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Section 1:  Notes on Financial 
Statements 
These consolidated interim financial statements comprise of 
Nixu Corporation (”the Company”) or (”the Parent Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” or 
”Nixu”). 

Nixu is a cybersecurity services company on a mission to keep 
the digital society running. Our passion is to help organiza-
tions embrace digitalization securely. Partnering with our cli-
ents we provide practical solutions for ensuring business con-
tinuity, an easy access to digital services and data protection. 
We aim to provide the best workplace to our team of over 
400 cybersecurity professionals with a hands-on attitude. 
With Nordic roots we serve enterprise clients worldwide. Nixu 
shares are listed on the Nasdaq Helsinki stock exchange. The 
Nixu Corporation shares are listed on the Official List of Nas-
daq Helsinki stock exchange. The Parent Company domicile 
is in Espoo, and the registered address is Keilaranta 15, 02150 
ESPOO. A copy of the financial statements is available on the 
Internet at www.nixu.com. 

Nixu’s Board of Directors has approved these financial state-
ments in their meeting on February 16, 2022. According to the 
Finnish Companies Act, shareholders have the opportunity 
to approve or reject the financial statements at the General 
meeting of Shareholders held after publication. It is also pos-
sible to amend the financial statements at the General meet-
ing of Shareholders.

The notes to the consolidated financial statements that follow 
present information relevant to understanding Nixu`s:

• Result for the year;

• People;

• Acquisitions and group structure;

• Interest-bearing Net Debt and Equity and

• Other assets and liabilities

Other information that is required to be disclosed to comply 
with the accounting standards but are not considered to be 
significant to understand the financial performance or finan-
cial position of Nixu are provided at the end of the notes. 

• Revenue: Recognition of license revenue - Nixu as an 
agent (note 2.1.)

• Segment information: aggregation of operating seg-
ments (note 2.2.)

• Acquisitions: Determination of the fair value of the net 
assets acquired (note 4.1.)

• Acquisitions: Management judgment relating to the  
determination of contingent consideration (note 4.1.)

• Intangible assets, including goodwill impairment testing: 
Allocation of goodwill and estimation of the carrying 
value (note 4.2.)

• Intangible assets, including goodwill impairment testing: 
The economic useful life of customer relationships (note 
4.2.)

• Deferred taxes: Recognition of deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities (note 8.1.)

The Group has estimated the accounting effects of the 
Covid-19 pandemic. In general, the Covid-19 pandemic has 
not had a significant impact on Nixu’s figures and asset val-
ues in the 2021 period. Most of the customers’ digitalization 
projects have continued despite the pandemic. Nixu esti-
mates that the rapid increase in digitalization in companies 
due to the pandemic and the possible postponed imple-
mentation of information security projects will be reflected in 
the growing demand for cybersecurity services in the future.

Impact in the financial reporting of the Covid-19 
pandemic

Nixu renewed its operating model in the financial year 2021. 
In the new operating model, cross-country teams reduce 
delays in customer projects due to possible illnesses.

In accordance with IAS 36, non-financial assets must be 
tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that 
their value may be impaired. In addition, goodwill is tested 
at least annually.

Nixu monitored the development of the situation during the 
year and assessed its impact on financial reporting, including 
non-current assets and the valuation of trade receivables.

To prepare for the potential impact of the Covid-19 pandem-
ic, the company has two credit facilities, totaling EUR 5,500 
thousand.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets 
and liabilities (derivative instruments) which are measured at 
fair value. The consolidated financial statements are present-
ed in thousands of euros, which is the functional and presen-
tation currency of the parent company. Items included in the 
financial statements of each subsidiary are measured using 
the currency of primary economic environment in which the 
subsidiary operates. All amounts presented are in thousands 
of euros unless otherwise noted and are rounded. According-
ly, in certain instances, the sum of the numbers in a column 
or row may not conform exactly to the total amount given for 
that column or row. The information presented in the financial 
statements is audited, except for the Report of the Board of Di-
rectors. The information in the Annual Review and Corporate 
Governance Report is unaudited.

Basis of preparation 

These consolidated financial statements of Nixu have 
been prepared in accordance with International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpreta-
tions issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee 
(IFRS IC) applicable to companies reporting under 
IFRS as adopted by the European Union. The notes to 
the consolidated financial statements also comply 
with the Finnish accounting and corporate legislation 
complementing the IFRS standards.

Key accounting estimates 

In preparing these financial statements, management are re-
quired to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual re-
sults may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underly-
ing assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which 
the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. In 
particular, information about significant areas of estimation, 
uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements are de-
scribed in the following notes:

• Revenue: Revenue recognition of large fixed-price  
projects (note 2.1.)
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Section 2: Result for the period 
This section contains information relevant to understand-
ing the results and performance of the Group during the 
reporting period:

• Revenue

• Segment information

• Materials and services

• Other operating income and expenses

• Income taxes

• Earnings per share

2.1 Revenue 
Nixu provides a wide range of cybersecurity consultancy 
services and continuous services and sells licenses to both 
business enterprises and the public sector. Nixu’s solutions 
include the following service concepts: business digitaliza-
tion; cyber defense; cybersecurity outsourcing; cloud se-
curity, safety, and reliability; compliance and certification; 
and security for connected devices. Typically, the service 
concepts and customer contracts include several types of 
services, as described below in more detail. 

The Projects and assignments area includes one-off assign-
ments, whose duration and scope range from extensive 
delivery projects to individual audit and consultancy as-
signments.

All continuous services include:

• Managed services include services such as Nixu CDC 
services and continuous identity and access manage-
ment services, where Nixu takes the management re-
sponsibility for the technology provided and a continu-
ous operational role in supporting customer operations. 
Managed security services also include the licenses 
sold for them, whether or not they are included in the 
contractual service price or sold separately.

• Continuous services include continuous services other 
than managed services, including continuous identity 
and access management services. They differ from 
other assignments in that they are based on agree-
ments that are valid until further notice or self-renewing 
agreements.

Technology resale includes resale of third-party software 
and technology service licenses as well as technology re-
sale, usually together with other services. License revenue 
also includes maintenance services. Licenses for managed 
security services are not included in license revenue.
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Revenue by type of service Revenue by geography

EUR thousand 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020
Service type:
Projects and assignments 26,003 26,529
Total continuous services 18,241 19,746

Managed services 9,953 10,446
Continuous services 8,287 9,300

Technology resell 7,566 6,998
Total 51,809 53,272

EUR thousand 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020
Finland 29,923 32,395
Sweden 9,836 8,834
Denmark 7,594 7,364
Benelux 1,422 2,073
Norway 1,061 1,027
Other 1,973 1,579
Total 51,809 53,272

The geographical breakdown of revenue is based on the customer location with which the contract for services has been made. Part of the services may have been delivered to other countries. 
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Accounting policy

All revenue is recognized on a gross basis, because 
Nixu acts as a principal towards the customer. Reve-
nues are reported after the deduction of indirect taxes 
and any discounts allowed. 

Nixu accounts for each service and license as a sepa-
rate performance obligation, because they are sepa-
rately identifiable and customer can benefit from each 
service and product separately. Service contracts do 
not involve significant customization of the software. 

Contracts with customers include some variable con-
sideration, such as discounts, target prices, or sanc-
tions related to the achievement of a service level in 
continuous services. Nixu estimates the amount of 
variable consideration based on expected value at 
the inception of the contract and at the end of each 
reporting period, and includes in the transaction price 
only the amount that meets criteria of being highly 
probable. The transaction price is allocated to the per-
formance obligations based on their relative stand-
alone selling prices. Nixu does not grant its customers 
payment terms exceeding one year, and the contracts 
do not include significant financing components.

Contract assets
Contract assets are recognized for provided services that 
have not yet been invoiced. For projects and assignments, in-
voicing is typically based on the performance agreed upon in 
the contract which is invoiced monthly on an hourly basis in 
accordance with the work performed. The charge may also 
be based on a fixed price which is invoiced gradually. A sep-
arate hourly rate has been determined for additional work. 
The change in the contract assets is mainly due to a normal 
seasonal variation and to the fact that some of the projects 
require prior approval of an invoice according to the custom-
er´s process before the actual invoice can be sent. 

The Cyber Defence Center (CDC) service contracts in-
clude set-up costs relating to the implementation of the 
service, which are capitalized as costs to fulfill a contract 
and amortized over the contract period. In 2021, the ac-
crued amount of costs to fulfill a contract be amortized 
on later periods was EUR 10 (12) thousand. The CDC service 
production needs production licenses, the costs of which 
are charged from customer as part of the monthly invoice; 
however, Nixu pays to license vendor for the next year´s use 
of the license in advance. Production licenses paid in ad-
vance that will be charged from customers in future and 
had been periodized was EUR 610 (650) thousand.

Contract liabilities
Contract liabilities are recognized for payments received 
from services that have not been provided. Revenue from 
CDC implementation services has been recognized by Nixu 
as a contract liability EUR 29 (22) thousand and amortized 
over the period during which continuous managed CDC 
services are provided. In all continuous services, i.e. man-
aged cybersecurity services and continuous services the 
performance provided is typically based on a fixed month-
ly or quarterly fee, and payment takes place in advance 
monthly or quarterly. Nixu has invoiced in advance man-
aged services EUR 230 (0) thousand.

For some CDC contracts, CDC projects include service level 
agreements that are monitored on a monthly basis and, if 
necessary, recognized. Some customers have been granted 
volume discounts based on turnover which are recognized. 
Such volume discounts for 2021 are EUR 21 (5) thousand. 

For licenses included in technology resale, the time of pay-
ment is typically determined by the time of delivery. For li-
cense maintenance fees, the payment is usually made in 
advance for the following year. For hardware, the time of 
payment for the goods provided is typically determined by 
the time of delivery. Nixu has invoiced license revenue in 
advance EUR 6,926 (3,436) thousand.

From contract liabilities, a revenue of EUR 6,847 (2,018) 
thousand has been recognized for the reporting period.

Payment terms for all contract types vary between 14 and 
60 days.

Projects and assignments

Revenue from projects and assignments is recognized over 
time in the accounting period in which the services are ren-
dered. The performance related to the projects does not 
create an asset with an alternative use, and Nixu has an en-
forceable right to payment for the performance completed. 

For projects and assignments agreements which are in-
voiced on time incurred, revenue is recognized in the 
amount to which Nixu has a right to invoice on monthly ba-
sis. Revenue from fixed-price projects is recognized based 
on service provided by the end of the reporting period as a 
proportion of the total services to be provided. This is deter-
mined based on the actual labor hours spent in proportion 
to the total expected labor hours. If the services rendered 

Contractual assets and liabilities

The Group’s balance sheet includes the following contractual assets and liabilities:

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Contract assets - Projects and assignments 1 ,251 944
Receivables 9,318 9,540
Contract assets and receivables total 10,568 10,484

Costs to obtain contracts with customers
Managed services 620 662
Licenses 6,268 3,137
Costs to obtain contracts with customers total 6,888 3,799

Contract liabilities1

Projects and assignments 320 734
Managed services 259 22
Continuous services 29 148
Licenses 6,926 3,436
Contract liabilities total 7,534 4 341
1) Included in accrued expenses, see Note 7.2. Trade payables and other liabilities.
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by Nixu exceed the payment, a contract asset is recog-
nized. The contract asset is transferred to receivables when 
entitlement to payment becomes unconditional. If the pay-
ments exceed the services rendered, a contract liability is 
recognized.

Managed services and continuous services 

When Nixu’s customer receives and consumes simultaneous-
ly the benefits from the services, Nixu recognizes revenue as 
managed services, other continuous services, software when 
provided as a service (SaaS), and maintenance services 
are provided. As a general rule, revenue is recognized in the 
amount to which Nixu has a right to invoice on monthly basis. 

Contracts on continuous services normally include only 
one performance obligation, which is a series of distinct 
services. Contractual penalties relating to service levels are 
recognized as an adjustment to revenue. The requirement 
for the allocation of variable consideration to a distinct ser-
vice in a series is met in continuous services, where Nixu al-
locates and recognizes variable consideration in the period 
during which it has a contractual right to a fee.

Technology resell 

Revenue from software licenses is recognized at a point in 
time upon delivery of the software when the customer has 
obtained an access to software and the customer is able 
to benefit from the software. License revenue also includes 
maintenance services, for which revenue is recognized over 
time as the customer simultaneously receives and con-
sumes the benefit from the service. Revenue from hardware 
is typically recorded at the time when the customer’s ap-
proval of the delivery is received. Equipment maintenance 
and the license allowing updates are recognized over time 
as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes 
the benefits of service. 

Contract costs

Where the criteria for capitalization are met, Nixu recognizes 
as an asset the incremental costs of obtaining a contract, 
such as sales bonuses, and the costs to fulfill a contract, 
such as set-up costs at the inception of the contract. The 
incremental costs of obtaining a contract and costs to fulfill 
a contract that meet the capitalization criteria are present-
ed in the statement of financial position as part of the con-

tract asset. Any incremental costs of obtaining a contract 
are recognized as an expense as incurred if the amortiza-
tion period of such capitalized costs would be one year or 
less. Costs to fulfill a contract recognized as an asset are 
amortized in 1 to 3 years depending on the contract period.

Application of practical expedients 

Nixu applies practical expedient permitted in IFRS 15 of rec-
ognizing incremental costs of obtaining contract and dis-
closing part of unrecognized revenue of projects and as-
signments and managed services and continuous services 
(transaction price allocated to performance obligations 
not satisfied) as contracts of these services have an ex-
pected duration of less than one year (contracts for man-
aged services and continuous services are continued until 
further notice or can be terminated within a year as a gen-
eral rule) or Nixu recognizes revenue based on invoicing.

Key judgements and estimates 

Fixed-price projects

The fixed-price projects mainly consist of separate audit 
and consultation assignments with an average duration of 
[6] months. The deliveries of some more extensive fixed-
price solutions may involve uncertainties, such as delays 
in projects or costs incurred in excess of initial estimates. 
For this types of projects, management uses judgement 
and assesses the amount recognized as revenue from the 
project. Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress 
toward completion of projects and assignments are re-
vised if circumstances change. Any resulting increases or 
decreases in estimated revenues or costs are reflected in 
profit or loss in the period in which the circumstances that 
give rise to the revision become known by management.

License revenue – Nixu as principal

Nixu has used judgment to assess whether Nixu is a prin-
cipal or an agent in sales of third party software and tech-
nology service licenses. As Nixu grants customer a right to 
use a license, Nixu is responsible for fulfilling contractual 
obligations related to licenses, Nixu sets prices and inde-
pendently sells the licenses mainly as a part of Nixu’s other 
services and the license owning party only provides limited 
support services to Nixu, Nixu has concluded to be a princi-
pal on the arrangement. If Nixu does not have above obli-
gations, Nixu will consider acting as an agent.

2.2 Segment information 
Nixu has only one reportable segment. Nixu’s CEO is the 
Group’s chief operating decision maker (CODM) and oper-
ating segments are determined on the basis of information 
reviewed by the CEO for the purposes of allocating resourc-
es and assessing the operating segment’s performance. 

The CODM of Nixu has determined that in the fiscal year 2021 
there are four operating segments: Finland, Sweden, Nether-
lands and Denmark. All operating segments provide cyber 
security services consisting of projects and assignments, con-
tinuous services and license sales. The management of Nixu 
has decided to aggregate these operating segments into one 
reportable segment that consists all Nixu’s operations. There-
fore separate segment information is not disclosed.

Key judgements and estimates 

Nixu’s management has used judgement when aggregating 
operating segments into one reportable segment.

All Nixu’s operating segments provide either the same or sim-
ilar type of cyber security services. The focus is on technolo-
gy-based continuous services, which can be seamlessly inte-
grated into the company’s cyber security consultation business. 

Based on “One Nixu” management philosophy Nixu has uni-
form operating model for its customers in each operating 
segment. Customers are provided with the most optimal set 
of skills, independent of where the security consultants are 
located, thus creating a model where one pool of security 
consultants and same methods of providing services is used 
for all operating segments’ customers. 

The customer base and regulatory environment are similar 
in all operating segments as those are located mainly in the 
EU area and their operations are not focused on a specific 
customer type with a distinctive regulatory environment. In 
addition the long-term growth and profitability trends are 
considered similar for all operating segments.

The geographical split of the revenue is disclosed in the 
Revenue section. 
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The non-current assets (excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets)  
by geographical location are shown in the following table.

EUR thousand 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Finland 4,384 4,910
Sweden 6,498 6,716
Benelux 516 719
Denmark 5,700 5,840
Total 17,098 18,185

2.3  Materials and services 

EUR thousand 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020
Subcontracting 3,282 2,766
Hosting and technology resell related 
expenses 9,662 9,479
Total 12,944 12,245

Materials and services provided include technology resell cost like license fees and , production 
costs related to managed services, and other direct costs associated with the provision of the 
services of the Group. Materials and services include technology resale costs, such as license fees, 
hardware fees, production costs related to managed services, and other direct costs associated 
with the provision of the Group’s services.

The table below shows the other operating expenses of the company:

EUR thousand 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020
Marketing expenses 631 794
Personnel related expenses 1,409 1,297
ICT expenses 1,239 1,209
Facilities 413 457
External services 1,254 1,194
Other operating expenses 533 259
Total 5,479 5,210

Other operating expenses include general expenses such as marketing expenses, fees of 
experts and consultants, as well as costs related to telecommunications and information 
technology. Other operating expenses include the auditor’s fees as per the attached spec-
ification. 

2.4 Other operating income and expenses
Other operating income includes mainly grants received. The amount of grants for the 
financial year ended December 31, 2021 was EUR -283 (406) thousand. 

Accounting policy 

Government grants received as cash are recognized when there is a reasonable as-
surance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with the attached 
conditions. Government grants are recognized in the income statement in the period 
necessary to match them with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Accounting policy

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred, except for certain devel-
opment costs, which are capitalized as they generate future economic benefits, and 
Nixu can the measure the cost reliably. 

Nixu does not have any capitalized development costs in its financial statements. In the 
financial year ended December 31, 2021, the Group recognized EUR 747 (775) thousand in 
research and development expenses through profit or loss. 

Auditors´ fees
   
EUR thousand 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020
Statutory audit 157 153
Tax advisory services 0 10
Other services 21 8
Total 179 171
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2.6 Earnings per share

1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020
Result for the period attributable to the owners of 
the parent -983,760 -1,835,236

Weighted average number of shares, undiluted 7,418,602 7,410,832
Earnings per share, basic (EUR) -0.13 -0.25
Impact of shares related to share based incentive 
plan 57,545 44,046

Weighted average number of shares, fully diluted 7,476,146 7,454,877
Earnings per share, diluted (EUR) -0.13 -0.25

Nixu’s dilutive potential shares are linked to the Nixu share-based incentive plan, which is 
described in more detail in Section 3.2 Employee share-based incentive plan. 

2.5 Income taxes

EUR thousand 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020
Current tax on result for the period 146 639
Adjustments in respect of prior years 4 16
Total current income tax expense 150 655
Deferred tax

Change in deferred tax assets 253 239
Change in deferred tax liabilites -377 -427

Total deferred tax -124 -187
Income tax expense 26 468

The following is a reconciliation between the tax expense and the tax payable:

EUR thousand 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020
Result before taxes -958 -1,368
Tax calculated at Finnish tax rate 20% -192 -274
Tax effect of:

Effect of other tax rates for foreign subsidiaries -19 -35
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes1 2 359
Unrecognized deferred tax assets on  
tax losses2 226 408
Other items -10 -2

Adjustment in respect of prior years 19 11
Income tax expense in income statement 26 468

1) Non-deductible expenses mainly include transaction costs for acquisitions, expenses treated as 
personnel expenses in connection with acquisitions, and expenses related to share based pay-
ments.

2) The operations of the Group’s subsidiaries Nixu B.V and Nixu AB, have been unprofitable and the 
Group has not recognized any deferred tax assets for these losses. In 2021, the amount of losses 
for which no deferred tax asset was recognized is EUR 1,096 (2,004) thousand. This has a signifi-
cant impact on the Group’s effective tax rate. Further information on the Group’s deferred taxes is 
presented in Note 8.1.

Accounting policy 

The income tax expense or income for the period is the tax payable on the current 
period’s taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction 
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences and to unused tax losses. The current income tax charge is calculated on 
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period in the countries where the Group companies operate and generate taxable 
income. Current and deferred tax is recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
In this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity, respectively.

Accounting policy 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners 
of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the reporting period (excluding any treasury shares).

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of the basic 
earnings per share to take into account the weighted average number of additional 
ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all 
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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3.1 Employee benefits

EUR thousand 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020
Wages and salaries 25,841 27,505
Social security expenses 2,017 2,054
Share-based payments 82 324
Pension expenses - defined contribution plans 3,850 3,572
Total 31,791 33,456

2021 2020
Number of employees at the end of period 389 373
Average number of employees during the period 385 399

Section 3: Personnel
This section includes information how Nixu rewards its employees and key management 
personnel. The section includes details of employee benefits, share-based incentive plans 
and related party information related to the remuneration of key management personnel 
as follows:

• Employee benefits

• Share-based payments

• Key management personnel disclosures

Nixu has employees in Finland, Sweden, Denmark, the Netherlands and Romania. The com-
pany’s pension arrangements in all its countries of operation are defined contribution plans. 

Group employees are included in the performance-based annual bonus scheme. The an-
nual bonus is based on the financial ratios of the group, the unit and the team and the 
achievement of personal performance targets. In Finland, annual bonuses are transferred 
to the Personnel Fund if the person so wishes to increase the commitment of the personnel 
to long-term goals and promote its interest in the Group’s financial success. The Personnel 
Fund is a personnel fund owned and managed by the employees in accordance with the 
Employees Fund Act, which owned 142,865 Nixu shares on December 31, 2021. The amount of 
annual bonuses transferred to the Personnel Fund in 2021 was EUR 484 thousand. The Per-
sonnel Fund was established in October 2016. 

 

Accounting policy 

Liabilities related to short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits include salaries including fringe benefits and vacation 
pays payable within 12 months. Short-term employee benefits are recognized as other 
liabilities in respect of employee service up to the reporting date and measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term bonus 
plan if the criteria for paying such bonuses are met.

Defined contribution plans 

For defined contribution plans, contributions are paid to pension insurance compa-
nies. Once the contributions have been paid, there are no further payment obligations. 
Contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to the income statement in 
the period to which the contributions relate.

3.2 Employee share-based incentive plan 

The 2019 share-based incentive plan

Nixu established a matching share plan, the All-Employee Matching Share Plan 2019-2021 
(the Plan), which was aimed at all permanent employees of Nixu Corporation and its sub-
sidiaries in 2019. 

The Plan consisted of a directed share issue against payment (“Share Issue 1/2019”) offering 
Nixu regular employees the option to subscribe for a minimum of 50 and a maximum of 
2,000 Nixu new shares per employee (“New Shares”) and entitlement of one (1) additional 
share (gross) (together the “Additional Shares”) for gratuitous rights of employees partic-
ipating in the Plan after a restriction period of approximately two years, for each of the two 
New Shares subscribed in the Issue 1/2019 as per the terms of the Plan. Additional shares will 
be issued to the participants on the day of their delivery as determined by Nixu Corporation. 
Employees participating in the Plan had the opportunity to participate in the financing of the 
company on separate terms.

The maximum number of shares to be subscribed for in the share issue 1/2019 was 100,000, 
representing approximately 1.4 per cent of the Company’s fully diluted shares. The Board of 
Directors of the Company determined the subscription price of the New Shares based on 
the volume-weighted average price of the share traded on Nasdaq Helsinki Oy from April 
1 to April 30, 2019. 99,071 new shares were subscribed for in the share issue 1/2019. The sub-
scription period for the New Shares ended on May 23, 2019 and the subscription price was 
EUR 12.09 per share.
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The table below presents basic information on the share-based incentive plan and changes 
during the period.

Share-based incentive plan 2019-2021

Plan All-Employee Matching Share Plan 2019-2021
Annual General Shareholders` Meeting date 25 Apr 2018
Initial amount, pcs 50,000
Dividend adjustment No
Grant Date 6 Jun 2019
Beginning of earning period 6 Jun 2019
End of Earning period 31 Mar 2021
End of restriction period 31 Mar 2021

Vesting Conditions
Own investment and  

Continued Employment
Maximum contractual life, yrs 1.8
Remaining contractual life, yrs 0
Number of persons at the end of reporting year 135
Payment method Cash and Equity
  
Changes during the period
1 Jan 2021
Outstanding in the beginning of the period 42,997
Reserve in the beginning of the period 7.003
  
Changes during period
Granted 0
Forfeited 1,235
Earned (gross) 41,519
Delivered (net) 20,879

31 Dec 2021
Outstanding at the of the period 0
Reserved at the of the period 0

 No new share incentives were granted during the 2021 financial year.

The incentive plan is classified as an equity-settled share-based incentive plan. On the re-
view period ended December 31, 2021, the plan increased the company’s employee benefit 
expenses and retained earnings by EUR 51 (238) thousand.
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Issuance of stock options to key employees

Based on the authorization granted by the AGM held on 
April 25, 2018, the Board of Directors of Nixu Corporation de-
cided to issue stock options.

The stock options will be issued to selected key personnel 
of Nixu Group. There is a weighty financial ground for the 
Company for the issuance of the stock options since the 
stock options are intended to form part of the incentive and 
commitment program of the key persons and to motivate 
the key personnel to work on a long-term basis to increase 
the shareholder value of the company in accordance with 
the growth strategy.

The total maximum number of Stock Options issued is 
345,000 and they entitle their holders to subscribe for a to-
tal maximum number of 345,000 shares of the Company. 
Each Stock Option entitles to subscribe for one (1) share in 
the Company. 

Of the Stock Options, 115,000 Stock Options are marked with 
the symbol 2019A, 115,000 with the symbol 2019B and 115,000 
with the symbol 2019C.

A condition of receiving the 2019A stock options was that 
the key employee participated in a directed share issue 
to the personnel. Also the other Stock Option series may 
be made conditional on an investment in the Company’s 
shares, such as participation in a share issue directed to 
personnel.

The Stock Option holders’ right to keep the Stock Options 
until the commencement of the share subscription period, 
is conditional on the fulfillment of performance targets of 
employee and customer satisfaction and revenue growth 
on terms separately determined by the company. The 
stock options are issued free of charge.

The share subscription price shall be the following: 2019A 
EUR 12.09, 2019B EUR 9.48 and 2019C EUR 9.95.

If the Company after the end of the share subscription price 
determination period, before the share subscription, dis-
tributes dividends or funds from the reserve of unrestricted 
equity, the share subscription price with the Stock Option 
shall be reduced with the amount of such distribution per 
share. The share subscription price shall, nevertheless, al-
ways amount to at least EUR 0.01. The share subscription 
price shall be booked in the reserve for invested unrestrict-
ed equity.

The share subscription period with the Stock Options shall 
be for Stock Options 2019A October 1, 2021 – May 31, 2023; for 
Stock Options 2019B October 1, 2022 – May 31, 2024; for Stock 
Options 2019C October 1, 2023 – May 31, 2025. The maximum 
number of shares 345,000 which may be subscribed with 
the stock options is approximately 4.5 per cent of the com-
pany’s shares on a fully diluted basis.

The Board of Directors of the Company decided for Stock 
Options 2019A that the subscription period and the fulfill-
ment of performance targets shall be moved to begin De-
cember 31, 2022 and end August 8, 2024. The subscription 
period for Stock Options 2019A was originally decided to be 
October 1, 2021 - May 31, 2023. Previously determined fulfill-
ment of performance targets remain the same.

Accounting policy 

Share-based incentive plans are accounted for either 
as equity or cash settled share-based payments. In 
Nixu’s share-based incentive plan the employees (in-
cluding senior executives) of the Group receive shares 
in exchange for employee services. Nixu may obtain 
the necessary shares by using its treasury shares or 
may purchase shares from the market.
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Share based incentives during the period 1.1.2021 - 31.12.2021     

Plan Nixu Corporation Stock Options 2019A Nixu Corporation Stock Options 2019B Nixu Corporation Stock Options 2019C Total
Annual General Shareholders` Meeting date Apr 25, 2018 Apr 25, 2018 Apr 25, 2018
Initial amount, pcs 115,000 115,000 115,000 345,000
The subscription ratio for underlying shares, pcs 1 1 1
Initial exercise price, € 12.09 9.48 9.95
Dividend adjustment Yes Yes Yes
Current exercise price, € 12.09 9.48 9.95
Initial allocation date Jun 14, 2019 Jan 4, 2021 Oct 29, 2021
Vesting date Dec 31, 2022 Oct 1, 2022 Oct 1, 2023
Maturity date Aug 31, 2024 May 31, 2024 May 31, 2025
Vesting conditions - -
Own Investment in Nixu shares, performance targets in; Reve-
nue, Employee Net Promoter Score and Customer Satisfaction 
Maximum contractual life, yrs 5.2 3.4 3.6 4.1
Remaining contractual life, yrs 2.7 2.4 3.4 2.8
Number of persons at the end of reporting year 39 66 29
Payment method Shares Shares Shares
    
Changes during period Nixu Corporation Stock Options 2019A Nixu Corporation Stock Options 2019B Nixu Corporation Stock Options 2019C Total
1 Jan 2021    
Outstanding in the beginning of the period 101,500 0 0 101,500
Reserve in the beginning of the period 13,500 0 0 13,500
     
Changes during period    
Granted 10,000 114,000 112,500 236,500
Forfeited 24,200 21,000 2,500 47,700
Invalidated during period 0 0 0 0
Exercised 0 0 0 0
Weighted average subscription price, € 0 0 0 0
Weighted average price of shares, € *) 0 0 0 0
Expired 0 0 0 0
     
31 Dec 2021    
Exercised at the end of period 0 0 0 0
Outstanding at the of the period 87,300 93,000 110,000 290,300
Vested and outstanding at the of the period 0 0 0 0
Reserved at the of the period 27,700 22,000 5,000 54,700
  
*weighted average price for the company share during the reporting period or partial instrument term

The incentive plan is classified as an equity-settled share-based incentive plan. On the review period ended December 31, 2021, the plan increased the company’s employee benefit expenses 
and retained earnings by EUR 31 (86) thousand.
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Remuneration of the Members of the Board 

EUR thousand 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020
Salaries, remuneration and 
benefits   
Kimmo Rasila 41 39
Marko Kauppi 32 31
Jaya Baloo 21 15
Kati Hagros 22 21
Juhani Kaskeala 0 6
Jari Niska 19 0
Anders Silwer 22 21
Tuija Soanjärvi 5 25
Teemu Tunkelo 0 6
Total 162 165

There are 6 members on the Board of Nixu. In 2021, Nixu’s Annual General Meeting decided remuneration 
for the Board as follows: The Chairman of the Board receives a fixed yearly fee of EUR 44,000 (3,200 per 
month), Deputy Chairman EUR 33,000 (2,400 per month) and other members of the Board of Directors 
EUR 22,000 (1,600 per month). Travel expenses will be reimbursed in accordance with Nixu’s travel policy.

The audit committee members in 2021 were Jari Niska (Chair), Marko Kauppi (member) and Anders Sil-
wer (member). For the work of the Audit Committee, the Chair of the Committee will be paid an annual 
remuneration of EUR 4,000 (4,000) and each Member will be paid an annual remuneration of EUR 2,000 
(2,000). In 2021, Nixu’s Personnel and Remuneration Committee were Kati Hagros (Chair), Jaya Baloo 
(member) and Kimmo Rasila (member). For the work of the Committee, the Chair of the Committee will 
be paid an annual remuneration of EUR 2,000 (2,000) and each Member will be paid an annual remu-
neration of EUR 1,000 (1,000).
Corporate Leadership Team salaries and fees 

EUR thousand 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020
Management team remuneration (except 
CEO)   
Wages, salaries and benefits 914 1,078
Share-based payments 13 21
Pension expenses  
- defined contribution plans 159 163
Total 1,086 1,262

Members of the Nixu Corporate Leadership Team include the chief executive officer, the chief 
financial officer, chief personnel officer and business area leaders.

The remuneration of the CEO

EUR thousand 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020
Wages, salaries and benefits 243 160
Share-based payments 3 7
Pension expenses  
- defined contribution plans 41 28
Total 287 195

CEO’s term of notice has been specified as three months in case the CEO decides to 
withdraw, and six months should the contract be terminated by the Company. Upon 
termination of contract of the CEO by the Company, the CEO will receive normal com-
pensation during the termination period. Or if the Company decides, the CEO will be 
paid a compensation corresponding to six months including holiday pay, without fur-
ther employment obligation. The CEO does not have additional pension plans. 

Board and management shareholdings 

Below are the holdings of Nixu's Board of Directors, CEO, and the Corporate Leadership team’s 
members in Nixu:

Name Role Shares
Kimmo Rasila Chairman of the Board 158,438

Shares held by related parties 4,000
Marko Kauppi Vice-Chairman of the Board 16,980

Through Tenendum Oy 248,800
Jaya Baloo Member of the Board 653
Kati Hagros Member of the Board 3,892
Anders Silwer Member of the Board 653
Jari Niska Member of the Board 653

Petri Kairinen CEO 38,107
Janne Kärkkäinen CFO, deputy CEO 7,922
Björn-Erik Karlsson SVP Expert Services 1,211
Jan Mickos SVP Managed Services 2,062
Katja Müller CPO 1,233
Valtteri Peltomäki SVP Client Experience 9,254
Pietari Sarjakivi SVP Labs 8,074

3.3 Information on key management personnel disclosures 
Key management personnel include Nixu’s Board of Directors, CEO and Corporate  
Leadership Team.
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4.2 Intangible assets, including goodwill impairment testing

EUR thousand Goodwill Customer relationships Other intangible assets Total
2021
Cost at 1 January 15,192 4,670 385 20,247

Additions 8 8 8 8
Exchange differences -126 -43 0 -169
Cost at 31 December 15,066 4,626 393 20,086

Accumulated amortization and impairment at 1 January 2,476 2,160 385 5,021
Amortization 0 399 0 399
Exchange differences -22 -18 0 -40
Accumulated amortization and impairment at 31 December 2,453 2,541 385 5,380

Net book amount at 1 January 12,716 2,509 0 15,226
Net book amount at 31 December 12,613 2,085 8 14,706

EUR thousand Goodwill Customer relationships Other intangible assets Total
2020
Cost at 1 January 14,919 4,578 385 19,883
Exchange differences 273 91 0 364
Cost at 31 December 15,192 4,670 385 20,247

Accumulated amortization and impairment at 1 January 1,000 1,736 289 3,025
Amortization 0 390 96 487
Impairment charges 1,420 0 0 1,420
Exchange differences 55 33 0 89
Accumulated amortization and impairment at 31 December 2,476 2,160 385 5,021

Net book amount at 1 January 13,919 2,842 96 16,858
Net book amount at 31 December 12,716 2,509 0 15,226

The Group’s intangible assets comprise goodwill, customer relationships and other intangible assets such as licenses for computer software. 
Nixu utilizes in its cybersecurity services and continuous services mainly licensed technology and software provided by third parties.

Section 4: Acquisitions and group structure 
This section provides information on Nixu’s group structure, the acquisitions done during the 
reporting period, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as well as the goodwill and 
other intangible assets recognized related to the acquisitions.

• Acquisitions

• Intangible assets including goodwill impairment testing

• Group structure

4.1 Acquisitions

There were no acquisitions during the review period.
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The key assumptions used in determining the recoverable 
cash flow of cash-generating units are as follows:

• The long-term growth rate of 2% (2%) has been used for 
all CGUs and reported periods.

•  The pre-tax discount rates are shown below:

 
 
 
 

Finland Sweden Denmark
31.12.2021 10% 10% 11%
31.12.2020 10% 10% 11%

• The long-term EBITDA percentages are shown below: 

 
 
 
 
 

Finland Sweden Denmark
31.12.2021 11% 10% 9%
31.12.2020 12% 10% 9%

 

• Other key assumptions used in the periods presented 
were the average annual growth rate of net sales (10% 
-16%) and the average EBITDA margin (7%). 

The recoverable cash flow based on value in use in 2021 ex-
ceeded the book value by EUR 41.9 (53.7) million in Finland, 
EUR 5.0 (0.7) million in Sweden and EUR 3.6 (3.5) million in 
Denmark.

No goodwill is allocated to Benelux-functions due to write-
down of previous financial year.

The company has been cautions in forecasts by lowering 
the growth rate of 2023 due to the lengthening of Covid-19 
pandemic and its possible impact to general economic 
growth.

Sensitivity 

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit in 
Sweden would be equal to its book value as of December 
31, 2021 if any of the key assumptions changed as follows 
(with other assumptions remaining unchanged):

• the average annual growth rate of revenue would have 
dropped from 16% to 2%; or

• the long-term EBITDA margin would have dropped from 
10% to 6%

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit in 
Denmark would be equal to its book value as of December 
31, 2021 if any of the key assumptions changed as follows 
(with other assumptions remaining unchanged):

• the average annual growth rate of revenue would have 
dropped from 14% to 2%; or

• the long-term EBITDA margin would have dropped from 
9% to 5%

Goodwill arose from the acquisitions carried out in previous 
financial years.

Key solutions and estimates based on judgment 

Management makes significant estimates and judgements 
in determining the level at which the goodwill is allocated 
to and in assessing the carrying value of goodwill. Nixu tests 
goodwill annually and other intangible assets when there is 
an indication that the assets may be impaired (assessed 
at least each reporting date). The goodwill is allocated to 
groups of cash-generating units, which are the operating 
segments of Nixu, reflecting the lowest levels at which the 
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of CGU’s fair value 
less costs of disposal and value in use. The value in use cal-
culations are based on discounted cash flows expected to 
arise from the goodwill.

Key estimates and judgement related to value in use cal-
culations is presented below:

• forecasting of future cash flows – these are based on 
the Nixu’s latest approved internal five year forecasts 
and reflect expectations of revenue growth, operating 
expenses, EBITDA margin, capital expenditure and cash 
flows, based on past experience and management’s ex-
pectation of future market changes.

• discount rates applied to those cash flows - pre-tax dis-
count rates used are the weighted average expense of 
capital determined by current market inputs and ad-
justed for the risks specific to the CGU. The adjusted af-
ter-tax discount rate is translated to a pre-tax rate for 
each cash generating unit (CGU) based on the specific 
tax rate applicable to where the CGU operates.

The following table shows the goodwill allocated to each 
cash-generating unit of Nixu:

EUR thousand 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Finland 3,157 3,157
Sweden 4,926 5,032
Denmark 4,530 4,527
Total goodwill 12,613 12,716

Accounting policy 

Goodwill represents the excess amount the Group 
has paid in acquiring a business over the fair value of 
the assets and liabilities acquired. Goodwill is carried 
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses and 
is considered as having an indefinite useful economic 
life. It is allocated to the cash generating unit of which 
the acquisition forms part. Goodwill is not amortized 
and is tested for impairment at least annually or when 
there is an indication of impairment. 

Customer relationships, which are considered sep-
arately identifiable, are acquired assets obtained 
through business combinations and they are mea-
sured at fair value at the date of acquisition. Cus-
tomer relationships are subsequently carried at cost 
less accumulated amortization and impairment loss-
es. Customer relationships are amortized in 5 to 12 
years. Amortization period of customer relationships 
is based on the Nixu’s historical length of customer 
relationships and customer churn. All other intangi-
ble assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortization and impairment losses. Other intangible 
assets are amortized in 3 to 5 years.

Key solutions and estimates based on judgment

Nixu’s management has estimated the useful life of the 
customer relationships recognized on the acquisitions. 
Useful lives are estimated at each balance sheet date and 
adjusted when necessary. 

Goodwill impairment testing
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• the expected long-term growth rates - cash flows be-
yond the five year period (after year 2026) are extrapo-
lated using estimated growth rates. The growth rates are 
based on the expected long-term performance of each 
CGU in their respective market and are consistent with 
the long-term average growth rates of the cyber securi-
ty service market.

Estimates and judgements are subject to change as a re-
sult of changing economic and operational conditions. 
Actual cash flows may therefore differ from forecasts and 
could result in changes in the recognition of impairment 
charges in future periods.

Goodwill’s carrying amount is written down to its recover-
able amount if goodwill’s carrying amount is greater than 
its estimated recoverable amount. An impairment loss rec-
ognized for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. 
Any impairment charge is recognized in the income state-
ment if the carrying amount of a CGU exceeds its recover-
able amount. 

Other intangible assets are tested by assessing the recov-
erable amount of each individual asset or, if this is not pos-
sible, then the recoverable amount of the cash generating 
unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs. CGUs are the lowest 
levels at which assets are grouped and generate separate-
ly identifiable cash flows.

Impact of IFRS 16 adoption has taken into account.

4.3 Group structure

Consolidated companies in the Financial Statement

 Parent Group
 Proportion, % Proportion, %
Subsidiaries:
Nixu Certification Oy 100% 100%
Nixu B.V 100% 100%
Nixu Cybersecurity SRL 4% 100%
Nixu AB 100% 100%
Nixu A/S 100% 100%

Subsidiaries are all acquired in 2016, 2017 and 2019, excluding 
Nixu Certification Oy and Nixu B.V., the company’s own subsid-
iaries. 

In the review period, subsidiary Nixu Inc. was taken down.

Subsidiaries:  
Accounting policy

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. 
Control exists when the Company is exposed to, or has 
the rights to, variable returns from its involvement with 
an entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. The financial state-
ments of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control com-
mences until the date that control ceases.

Intra-group balances and any unrealized gains 
and losses or income and expenses arising from in-
tra-group transactions are eliminated in preparing 
the consolidated financial statements.

Assets and liabilities in subsidiaries are translated into 
euro at the rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. 
Income and expenses in subsidiaries are translated 
into euro using an average rate. Translation differenc-
es that arise when translating the financial statements 
of subsidiaries are recognized in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in a separate component of 
equity, called translation differences. 

Foreign currency denominated transactions are trans-
lated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or if 
items have been revalued, at the measurement dates 
exchange rates. Foreign exchange gains and loss-
es arising in respect of business operations, such as 
sales and purchases, are recognized in operating re-
sult. Foreign exchange differences arising from finan-
cial instruments are recognized in finance expenses.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consol-
idated entities are allocated their share of net profit 
after tax in the income statement, and are identified 
separately from the Group’s equity in those entities. 
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Section 5: Interest-bearing net debt and equity 
This section provides information how the Group manages its capital structure and financing, including its exposure to risks:

• Borrowings 

• Derivative financial instruments

• Cash and cash equivalents

• Finance income and expenses

• Financial risk and capital management

• Equity

The interest rates on the loans ranged from 1.9% to 3.8%, with 
the capitalized interest rate for a EUR 2,052 thousand portion 
at 3.80% on the period ended December 31, 2021.

The company has two credit facility agreements of EUR 1,500 
thousand and EUR 4,000 thousand. The credit facility of EUR 
4,000 thousand is maturing on April 30, 2022. The credit facil-
ities were not in use at the end of the accounting period on 
December 31, 2021.

The loans drawn in 2017 will be paid at once on their due 
dates. The loan drawn in 2019 is being paid in half-yearly in-
stallments and will mature on March 28, 2023 and as of De-
cember 31, 2021, the outstanding amount was EUR 938 (1,563) 
thousand. The covenants for the credit facility and loans are 
as follows: equity ratio at least 30% up to the review date of 
June 30, 2022 and at least 32% always thereafter. EBITDA of at 
least EUR 1000 thousand on the review date of December 31, 
2021. EBITDA is calculated based on the previous 12 months. 
The Group’s interest-bearing net debt/EBITDA indicator will 
be reviewed every six months on June 30 and December 31, 
with the first review on June 30, 2022. The net debt-to-EBITDA 
ratio may not exceed 3.7 up to the review date of June 30, 
2022, 3.25 up to the review date of December 31, 2022, and 3.0 
up to subsequent review dates. 

The Group met the covenant conditions related to the loans 
on December 31, 2021. Because the covenant conditions were 
fulfilled on December 31, 2021, and will also be fulfilled on 
June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2022 based on current view, 
the loans were classified under non-current and current li-
abilities. The loan drawn in 2017, EUR 2,065 thousand (loan 1) 
is maturing within 12 months, which is classified under cur-
rent liabilities. The financial position of the company and the 
active financing agreements will guarantee the liquidity of 
the company. For more information on short-term loans and 
covenants related to loan agreements, see Section 5.3 of the 
notes. Financial risk and capital management - liquidity risk.

The fair value of the loans does not materially differ from 
their book value because the interest rates on the loans are 
close to the current market rates (new bank loans have been 
taken out in 2019, while the margin on the loan taken out in 
2017 has been revised). The company’s risk premium has not 
changed significantly after taking out loans. The fair values 
of Nixu loans are based on cash flows discounted using the 
current loan rate. The different terms of the loans (maturity, 
seniority, collateral) are taken into account when determin-
ing the value. Loans are classified in Level 2 of the fair val-
ue hierarchy because the fair value measurement is mainly 
based on a market interest rate curve. 

5.1  Net interest-bearing debt

Nixu’s Net Debt Position: 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
EUR thousand Carrying value Carrying value 
Non-current borrowings
Loans from financial institutions 2,365 4,971
Lease liabilities 900 1,447
Total non-current borrowings 3,265 6,418
Loans from financial institutions 2,686 621
Lease liabilities 1,366 1,237
Total current borrowings 4,052 1,858
Total borrowings 7,317 8,276
Less cash and cash equivalents 4,080 6,031
Net debt 3,237 2,244

EUR thousand Drawn down Maturity Interest rate Installment
Remaining debt 

31 Dec 21
Remaining debt 

31 Dec 20
Loan 1 2017 5/30/22 1.9%+6 month euribor bullet 2,065 2,065
Loan 2 2019 3/28/23 1.9%+6 month euribor half-on-year 938 1,563
Loan 3 2017 5/30/23 3.8%+3.8% bullet 2,052 1,977
Total 5,055 5,605

Borrowings

On December 31, 2021, Nixu’s loans from financial institutions consisted of variable and fixed-rate loans amounting to EUR 5,900 
thousand and a variable-rate loan of EUR 2,500 thousand drawn in 2019.

The table below provides information on loans (loans are undiscounted): 
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Accounting policy

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net 
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subse-
quently measured at amortized cost. Any difference 
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and 
the redemption amount is recognized in profit or loss 
over the period of the borrowings using the effective 
interest method. Fair value, which is determined for 
disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the pres-
ent value of future principal and interest cash flows, 
discounted at the market rate of interest at the re-
porting date. Borrowings are classified as current lia-
bilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the reporting period.

Derivative financial instruments

As part of its normal business operations, the Group is a 
party to derivative contracts designed to hedge against 
exposure to interest rate fluctuations in accordance with 
the Group’s financial risk management principles (see “Fi-
nancial risk and capital management”). At the point of the 
Financial Statement, the Group has one interest rate swap 
on December 31, 2021 (one interest swap contract). On De-
cember 31, 2021, the fair value of the derivative was nega-
tive EUR 10 (30) thousand. Changes in the fair value of these 
derivatives were recognized as financial expenses in the 
income statement. The nominal value of interest rate swap 
on December 31, 2021 was EUR 2,065 (2,065) thousand. For 
the swap, the company receives a floating rate (EURIBOR 3 
months or 6 months) and pays a fixed coupon rate (0.44% 
and 0.81% respectively). The interest rate swap will mature 
in 2022. 

This derivative financial instrument is classified as level 2 in 
the fair value hierarchy, and their fair value is calculated as 
the current value of estimated future cash flows based on 
observable yield curves. 

Accounting policy

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on 
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the 
end of each reporting period. 

The fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as 
a non-current asset or liability when the remaining 
maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months; 
it is classified as a current asset or liability when the 
remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 
months. Derivatives are classified as held for trading. 

The fair value of interest rate swaps is determined by 
discounting estimated future cash flows based on the 
terms and maturity of each contract and using mar-
ket rates at the measurement date.

Cash and cash equivalents 

Nixu’s cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and de-
mand deposits with MFIs. Nixu’s cash and cash equivalents 
as of December 31, 2021 amounted to EUR 4,080 (6,031) 
thousand.

Accounting policy

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with financial institutions, and 
other short-term, highly liquid investments with origi-
nal maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and that are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
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Net Debt Reconciliation

EUR thousand
Cash and cash  

equivalents
Other borrowings  

due within 1 year
Other borrowings  

due after 1 year
Lease liabilities  

due within 1 year
Lease liabilities  
due after 1 year

Total net 
 debt

1 Jan 2020 3,923 7,338 0 1,455 2,117 6,988
Cash flows 2,094 -1,737 -1,547 -5,378
Other non-cash movements 14 -4,981 4,971 1,329 -670 635
31 Dec 2020 6,031 621 4,971 1,237 1,447 2,244
Cash flows -1,921 -625 -1,398 -102
Foreign exchange adjustment -30 30
Other non-cash movements 2,690 -2,606 1,527 -547 1,064
31 Dec 2021 4,080 2,686 2,364 1,367 900 3,237
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5.3 Financial Risk and  
Capital Management 
Nixu’s activities expose it to foreign currency risk, interest 
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Nixu’s financial team 
manages the risk by identifying, evaluating and hedging fi-
nancial risk arising from financial markets, customer trans-
actions and liquidity requirements. 

The Board of Directors provides principles for overall risk 
management, as well as policies covering specific areas, 
such as interest rate risk, credit risk and use of derivative 
financial instruments. 

Currency Risk 

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to for-
eign exchange risk arising from primarily with respect to the 
Swedish krona and US dollar. The Group has a subsidiary in 
Denmark, but the Danish krone is pegged to the euro at a 
fixed rate that can only fluctuate slightly. Foreign exchange 
risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognized 
assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign opera-

tions. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial 
transactions or recognized assets or liabilities are denom-
inated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional cur-
rency. Exposure to foreign exchange risk has been limited 
and Nixu’s finance team monitors the changes in the sit-
uation. 

Group companies’ sales and purchases are mainly denom-
inated in the Group’s operating currencies. The Group’s ex-
posure to currency risk arising from business transactions 
has been limited. The Group is exposed to currency chang-
es in the U.S. Dollar, especially as a result of USD sales to the 
US by Nixu’s Denmark subsidiary and the parent company. 
There are some pound sterling purchases mainly by Danish 
subsidiary. The Group does not actively use derivative in-
struments to hedge against currency risk.

If the euro had weakened / strengthened against the US 
dollar by 10% on December 31, 2021, with all other factors re-
maining unchanged, the recalculated net profit after taxes 
would have been EUR 4 (12) thousand higher / lower, main-
ly due to USD trade receivables of 35 (12) thousand dollars 
and of a USD 29 (41) in bank account balance in the parent 
company and Danish subsidiary.

On December 31, 2021, the parent company had SEK 737 
(1,243) thousand domestic receivables. The exchange rate 
difference arising from this internal debt was offset by the 
euro-denominated liabilities of the Group’s Swedish sub-
sidiaries. Net exposure to exchange rate fluctuations in the 
Swedish krona was not significant on December 31, 2021. 

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

Nixu’s interest rate risk arises from variable rate long-term 
borrowings. Loans with variable interest rate exposes the 
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Nixu manages its cash 
flow interest rate risk by using floating-to-fixed interest rate 
swaps in which fixed interest rate is paid and variable inter-
est rate is received. Read more on derivatives under note 5.1. 
On the balance sheet date December 31, 2021 the Group has 
one interest rate swap contract (one interest rate swap con-
tract) outstanding on which 69% (57%) of the loan principal 
is hedged against cash flow risk. The figures presented in the 
table are contract-based, undiscounted figures.

Fixed-rate loans expose Nixu to fair value interest rate risk. 

5.2 Financial income and expenses

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Finance income
Interest income 21 3
Other finance income 6 0
Finance income total 27 3

Finance expenses
Foreign exchange losses on financing activities -15 -56
Interest and finance charges paid/payable for lease liabilities -87 -103
Interest on borrowings -377 -390
Fair value losses on derivatives 20 9
Other finance costs -81 -130
Finance expenses total -541 -669

Finance income and expenses total -514 -666

The Group’s financial expenses include mainly interest expenses on loans, exchange rate losses, interest and finance charges for 
lease liabilities and the change in the fair value of interest rate swaps.
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In the financial periods presented in the financial state-
ments, the Group’s loans were mainly denominated in 
Euros.

If interest rates on December 31, 2021 had been higher than 
100 basis points, all other factors remaining unchanged, the 
result for the period after taxes would have been EUR 14 (29) 
thousand as a result of higher interest expenses on floating 
rate loans and lower. The interest rate sensitivity has been 
determined by shifting the interest rate curve by 100 ba-
sis points (no scenario based on decreased interest rate 
is presented due to the low market interest rates). In the 
sensitivity analysis, it has been noted that on December 31, 
2021, interest rate swaps had a total nominal value of EUR 
2,065 (2,065) thousand which reduced sensitivity to interest 
rate fluctuations. The interest rate position includes all ex-
ternal floating rate liabilities.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from cash and cash equivalents 
and credit exposures to customers from outstanding re-
ceivables. Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is man-
aged at group level. Cash and cash equivalents are held 
mainly in reputable Nordic banks. Each local entity is re-
sponsible for managing the credit risk for their accounts re-
ceivable balances. The local entities have the responsibility 
to analyze the credit standing of clients with revenue less 
set limit before standard payment and delivery terms and 
conditions are offered. 

Credit risk countering payment methods such as advance 
payments are used in high risk clients. Historically credit 
losses have been insignificant. 

The maximum exposure to the credit risk at the reporting 
dates are the carrying values of each class of financial as-
sets mentioned above. 

For information regarding the credit losses recognized and 
the ageing of the trade receivables, refer to 7.1 Trade and 
other receivables.

Liquidity risk

Nixu monitors the Group’s liquidity needs monthly to ensure 
that sufficient cash is available to meet the needs of the 
business and, at the same time, to constantly maintain a 
sufficient number of undrawn committed credit facilities. 
The amount of cash and cash equivalents on December 31, 
2021 was EUR 4,080 (6,031) thousand. In addition, the Group 
has unutilized committed credit facilities totaling EUR 5,500 
(5,500) thousand as of December 31, 2021. In terms of future 
payments, the most important source of financing is cash 
flows from operations and liquid assets, combined with po-
tential new or equity financing.

The Group’s additional cash reserves are not actively in-
vested. Nixu’s goal is both organic and structural growth, 
and cash is used for this purpose. 

The covenants for the credit facility and loans are as fol-
lows: equity ratio at least 30% up to the review date of June 
30, 2022 and at least 32% always thereafter, and EBITDA of 
at least EUR 1,000 thousand on the review date of Decem-
ber 31, 2021. EBITDA s calculated based on the previous 12 
months. The Group’s interest-bearing net debt/EBITDA in-
dicator will be reviewed every six months on June 30 and 
December 31, with the first review on June 30, 2022. The net 
debt-to-EBITDA ratio may not exceed 3.7 up to the review 
date of June 30, 2022, 3.25 up to the review date of Decem-
ber 31, 2022, and 3.0 up to subsequent review dates.

The Group met the covenant conditions related to the loans 
on December 31, 2021. Because the covenant conditions 
were fulfilled on December 31, 2021, and will also be fulfilled 
on June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2022 based on current 
view, the loans were classified under non-current and cur-
rent liabilities. The loan drawn in 2017, EUR 2,065 thousand 
is maturing within 12 months accordingly the agreement, 
which is classified under current liabilities. The financial po-
sition of the company and the active financing agreements 
will guarantee the liquidity of the company. 

Interest rate risk

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Variable interest rate borrowings 3,003 3,628
Fixed interest rate borrowings 2,052 1,977
Total 5,055 5,605

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Variable interest rate borrowings 3,003 3,628
Interest rate swaps (notional principal amount) 2,065 2,065
Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 938 1,563
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EUR thousand Under 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Over 5 years
Contractual undiscounted  

cash flows Carrying value
31 Dec 2021  
Non-derivatives  
Loans from financial institutions 2,690 2,365 5,055 5,055
Lease liabilitites 1,400 802 151 2,353 2,266
Other loans 283 283 283
Trade payables and other payables* 20,070 20,070 20,070
Total 24,160 3,167 151 283 27,761 27,674

Derivatives
Interest rate swaps 10 10 10
Total 10 0 0 0 10 10

* Excluding non-financial items

EUR thousand Under 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Over 5 years
Contractual undiscounted  

cash flows Carrying value
31 Dec 2020  
Non-derivatives  
Loans from financial institutions 625 2 690 2,290 5,605 5,592
Lease liabilitites 1,304 1 080 408 2,791 2,684
Other loans 282 282 282
Trade payables and other payables* 17,336 17,336 17,336
Total 19,265 3 770 2,697 282 26,014 25,894

Derivatives
Interest rate swaps 30 30 30
Total 30 0 0 0 30 30

* Excluding non-financial items

The following table shows the Group’s non-derivative fi-
nancial liabilities and derivative liabilities broken down by 
relevant maturity groupings based on the amount of re-
maining contractual maturity at the balance sheet date. 
The figures presented in the table are contract-based, un-
discounted figures.

Capital management 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to fi-
nance the growth in line with Nixu’s strategy, provide re-
turns for shareholders and safeguard the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to share-
holders, return capital to shareholders and issue new 
shares. 

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the equity ratio 
and net debt in relation to EBITDA. The equity ratio is calcu-
lated as shareholders’ equity divided by total assets less 
advances received. 

As at December 31, 2021 Nixu’s equity ratio was 31.5% (34.4%).

The capital structure shall secure Nixu’s debt financing 
being in line with covenants. More information on covenant 

terms and their fulfillment is provided in the liquidity risk 
section. Planned structure should take into account both 
current and future business needs, as well as ensure com-
petitive cost of financing. 

Cooperation with banks is based on long-term banking 
relationships. In the long term the goal is to service Nixu’s 
loan obligations by operating cash flow. During the phase 
of rapid growth, capital may be acquired both equity and 
debt financing term
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Number of shares
1 Jan 2020  7,412,814 
Purchase of own shares -10,000
31 Dec 2020 7,402,814
Transfer of own shares 20,879
31 Dec 2021 7,423,693

The table below shows the changes in the company’s own 
shares:

EUR thousand 2021 2020
At 1 January 22,405 12,405
Purchase of own shares 0 10,000
Transfer of own shares -20,879 0
At 31 December 1,526 22,405

5.4  Equity
Nixu has one share series. Each share entitles the holder to 
equal voting and dividend rights. The company’s shares 
are listed on the Official List of Nasdaq Helsinki. 

The table below shows the number of outstanding shares 
during the reporting periods: 

During the financial year, transfer of own shares were relat-
ed to MSP program of the personnel.

The invested unrestricted equity reserve 

There are no changes during the financial year.

.

Accumulated translation differences

This reserve includes the foreign currency differences aris-
ing from the translation of foreign operations. 

Accounting policy

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremen-
tal expenses directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the parent 
company’s shares (treasury shares), the consider-
ation paid, including any directly attributable incre-
mental costs (net of tax), is deducted from equity 
attributable to the owners of the parent company 
until the shares are canceled or reissued. Where such 
shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration 
received, net of any directly attributable incremental 
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, 
is included in equity attributable to the owners of the 
parent company.

Invested unrestricted equity fund includes, subject to 
the Companies Act, the subscription price of the in-
vestments made by the shareholders to the Compa-
ny unless otherwise decided by the Company.

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend de-
clared, being appropriately authorized and no longer 
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of 
the reporting period but not distributed at the end of 
the reporting period. 
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EUR thousand Machinery and equipment Other tangible assets Right-of-use assets Total
2021
Cost at 1 January 1,991 572 5,731 8,294
Additions 10 0 1,206 1,215
Disposals -20 0 -461 -481
Exchange differences 2 0 -24 -22
Cost at 31 December 1,983 572 6,452 9,006

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 1 January 1,620 539 3,176 5,335
Depreciation 131 9 1,376 1,517
Disposals 0 0 -225 -225
Exchange differences 2 0 -15 -13
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December 1,753 549 4,313 6,615

Net book amount at 1 January 372 32 2,555 2,959
Net book amount at 31 December 230 23 2,139 2,392

6.1  Tangible assets, including depreciation

Section 6: Non-financial assets and liabilities 
This section provides information about the group´s non-financial assets and liabilities, including;

• Tangible assets, right-of-use-assets including depreciations and finance leases
• Lease liabilities

EUR thousand Machinery and equipment Other tangible assets Right-of-use assets Total
2020
Cost at 1 January 1,937 564 5,236 7,737
Additions 68 8 926 1,003
Disposals -16 0 -468 -484
Exchange differences 2 0 36 39
Cost at 31 December 1,991 572 5,731 8,294

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 1 January 1,458 523 1,830 3,811
Depreciation 176 16 1,498 1,689
Disposals -16 0 -175 -191
Exchange differences 2 0 24 26
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December 1,620 539 3,176 5,335

Net book amount at 1 January 479 40 3,407 3,926
Net book amount at 31 December 372 32 2,555 2,959
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Managerial discretion

The Group has decided not to record right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities for short-term leases with a maximum 
contract term of 12 months, and contracts with low value 
assets. The Group interprets low-value asset relief to apply 
to contracts in which the asset is not material to Nixu. The 
assessment of whether an asset is material and whether it 
qualifies for recognition under IFRS 16 is based on the ma-
teriality concept of the conceptual framework and the IAS 
1 standard. Low-value items mainly include mobile phones, 
small office spaces, and other low value items. The Group 
recognizes the lease payments related to these contracts 
as expenses in equal installments over the lease term. In 
addition, the Group has made an ex-post evaluation of the 
lease term if the lease includes an option to extend. 

Accounting policy

Tangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and possible impairment. The useful lives of 
tangible assets are 3–10 years. The useful life of an asset is reviewed at least at the end of each financial year and ad-
justed, if appropriate. Sales gains and losses on disposal or transfer of tangible assets are presented in other operating 
income and expenses. Sales gains or losses are calculated as the difference between the sales price and the remaining 
acquisition cost. 

Right-of-use assets are capitalized at the commencement date of the lease and comprise the initial amount of the 
lease liability adjusted by lease payments made at or before the commencement date. Direct costs incurred from ob-
taining the lease are deducted, as well as any rent-free months or other discounts.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently depreciated on a straight-line basis from the commencement date of the lease 
either by the end of the estimated useful life of the right-of-use asset or by the end of the lease term, whichever is the 
earlier. Right-of-use assets are additionally adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

Lease liabilities are initially measured at the commencement date at the present value of the remaining lease pay-
ments, discounted at the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. The applicable lease term corresponds to the period 
during which the lease is non-cancellable, except when the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the renewal option 
or extend the contract. Lease liabilities are recognized at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Lease lia-
bilities are mainly remeasured when future lease payments change due to index or interest rate changes, or when the 
Group’s estimate of the use of a possible extension option changes. When a lease liability is remeasured, the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset is usually adjusted accordingly.

6.2  Leased assets
Nixu’s leased assets consist of office premises in countries 
where the company has subsidiaries. The company head-
quarters are located in Espoo, Finland, at Keilaranta 15. The 
lease is fixed-term and valid until February 28, 2023. In 2019, 
the contract was expanded by leasing additional space. 
The lease is capitalized on the balance sheet until the end 
of the contract period. Nixu has two other offices in Finland 
in addition to its headquarters. These have been estimated 
as low-value and are not capitalized on the balance sheet. 
The Swedish offices are located in Stockholm, Uppsala, and 
Linköping. All are entered on the balance sheet with the fol-
lowing end dates: Stockholm, March 31, 2023; Uppsala, Sep-
tember 30, 2022; and Linköping, September 30, 2022. The 
Benelux office is located in Amsterdam. The lease for Am-
sterdam was continued during the financial year 2021. The 
new contract is fixed-term and will expire on February 28, 
2024. The lease for The Hague was ended during the finan-
cial year 2021. In Romania a new office was leased. The new 

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Interest on lease liabilities -87 -103
Expenses relating to short-term or low value assets -193 -190

contract is fixed-term and will expire on June 30, 2024. The 
lease is capitalized on the balance sheet until the end of 
the contract period. The Danish offices are located in Herlev 
and Aarhus. The lease for the Herlev office is an open-end-
ed contract with 6 months term of notice. The Aarhus office 
has been classified as low-value and is not capitalized on 
the balance sheet. 

Company employees are entitled to a leased car as an 
employee benefit. The leases are typically for three to four 
years. In Benelux, some cars are leased for less than a year 
and are not capitalized on the balance sheet. Laptops are 
generally leased, with a typical lease period of two years. 
Mobile devices are classified as low-value and are not 
capitalized on the balance sheet. Contracts classified as 
service contracts are not treated as right-of-use assets.

Accounting policy

Short-term leases with a maximum contract term of 
12 months, and contracts with low value assets are not 
recorded in right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. 

The portion paid for the interest of the lease liability is 
presented as part of the cash flow from operating ac-
tivities and the portion paid for the capital of the lease 
liability is presented as part of the financing cash flow.
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EUR thousand Properties Cars IT equipment Total right-of-use assets
1 Jan 2021 2,983 1,678 1,070 5,731
Increases 705 218 287 1,206
Decreases -147 -314 0 -461
Exchange differences -19 -3 -2 -24
31 Dec 2021 3,522 1,579 1,351 6,452
Accumulated depreciations:
1 Jan 2021 1,535 858 783 3,176
Depreciation for the period 827 323 226 1,376
Accumulated depreciations on disposals -74 -151 0 -225
Exchange differences -12 -2 -1 -15
31 Dec 2021 2,277 1,028 1,008 4,313
 
Net book amount at 1 January 1,448 820 287 2,555
Net book amount at 31 December 1,246 551 343 2,139

Right-of-use assets consist of the following leases:

The Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss shows the following depreciation charges relating to these leases:

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Properties 827 808
Cars 323 475
IT equipment 226 215
Depreciation charge right-of-use assets 1,376 1,498



   ANNUAL REVIEW    FINANCIAL REVIEW
Consolidated Financial Statement

58

   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Section 7: Operating Assets and Liabilities 
This section provides information on the operating assets used and the operating liabilities incurred by the Group 

• Trade and other receivables
• Trade and other payables

7.1 Accounts receivable and other receivables

Current receivables

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Trade receivables and other receivables
Trade receivables 10,568 10,484
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 7,987 5,506
Rental deposits 0 20
Other receivables 178 131
Total 18,734 16,140

Prepaid expenses and accrued income
Employer's statutory insurance premiums 92 11
Maintenance charges related to licenses 5,761 3,137
Grants receivable 0 35
Other items 2,134 2,323
Total 7,987 5,506

The age distribution of the Group’s trade receivables as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 is shown below. The share of 
prepayments EUR 1,642 thousand and bad debt provision on recognized on group level EUR 10 thousand have not been deducted 
from the age distribution of trade receivables below:

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Not due 10,216 10,410
Overdue by
1-30 days 1,491 1,190
31-60 days 105 1
61-90 days 317 39
over 90 days 92 312
Total 12,221 11,952

Impairment on trade receivables amounted to EUR -10 (-228) thousand on December 31, 2021.

Accounting policy

Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair val-
ue and subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method, less provision for 
impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for 
settlement within 30 to 90 days. They are presented 
as current assets unless collection is not expected for 
more than 12 months after the reporting date.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. The amount of the impairment loss 
is recognized in profit or loss. Write-down is made if 
there is objective evidence that the receivable can 
not be collected for example due to customer’s bank-
ruptcy or debt restructuring. Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are credited against 
expenses in profit or loss.
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7.2 Accounts payable and other debts

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Trade payables and other payables
Trade payables 4,700 3,392
Accrued expenses 12,490 10,663
Derivative financial instruments 10 30
Other current liabilities 2,880 3,251
Total 20,080 17,336

Material items under accrued expenses
Accrued personnel expenses 4,429 5,138
Accrued interests 112 109
Contract liabilities 7,481 4,341
Other accruals 469 1,075
Total 12,490 10,663

Material items under current liabilities
Value added tax 1,581 1,939
Withholding tax and social insurance contributions 825 1,026
Other current liabilities 474 286
Total 2,880 3,251

Accounting policy

Trade and other payables are recognized initially at 
fair value and subsequently measured at amortized 
cost. They represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Group prior to the end of the reporting 
period that are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured 
and are paid in accordance with the Group’s terms 
of trade. Trade and other payables are presented as 
current liabilities unless payment is not due within 
twelve months after the reporting period.
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Section 8: Other notes
This section contains information that the Group needs to 
present in order to comply with accounting standards, but 
which are not considered significant for understanding the 
Group’s financial position and performance:

• Deferred tax assets and liabilities

• Related party transactions

• Contingent items and commitments, including leases 

• New standards

• Later events

8.1 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Accounting policy

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liabil-
ity method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carry-
ing amounts in the consolidated financial statements. 
Deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise 
from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred in-
come tax is also not accounted for if it arises from ini-
tial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that at the time 
of the transaction affects neither accounting nor tax-
able profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined 
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted 
or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting 
period and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible 
temporary differences and unused tax losses only 
if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilize those temporary differences and 
losses. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not rec-
ognized for temporary differences between the car-
rying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign 
operations where the Company is able to control the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax bal-
ances relate to the same taxation authority. Current 
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity 
has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends 
either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Deferred tax assets and debts 

EUR thousand At 1 Jan Recognized in profit or loss
Additions of lease agreements 

during the period
Exchange rate  

differences At 31 Dec
2021
Deferred tax assets
Borrowings 541 -326 246 -2 459
Tax losses 323 70 0 393
Other items 18 3 0 21
Total 883 -253 246 -2 873
Netting of deferred taxes -821 -704
Deferred tax assets, net 62 170

EUR thousand At 1 Jan Recognized in profit or loss
Additions of lease agreements 

during the period
Exchange rate  

differences At 31 Dec
2021
Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible assets 479 -36 -5 438
Tangible assets 516 -326 246 -2 434
Borrowings 3 -2 0 1
Other items 39 -13 0 26
Total 1,036 -377 246 -6 899
Netting of deferred taxes -821 -704
Deferred tax liabilities, net 215 195
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EUR thousand At 1 Jan
Recognized in  

profit or loss
Additions of lease agree-

ments during the period Exchange rate differences At 31 Dec
2020
Deferred tax assets
Borrowings 726 -371 184 2 541
Tax losses 185 137 1 323
Other items 24 -6 18
Total 934 -239 184 3 883
Netting of deferred taxes -934 -821
Deferred tax assets, net 0 62

EUR thousand At 1 Jan
Recognized in  

profit or loss
Additions of lease agree-

ments during the period Exchange rate differences At 31 Dec
2020
Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible assets 505 -36 10 479
Tangible assets 694 -364 184 2 516
Appropriations 9 -9 0
Borrowings 5 -3 3
Other items 53 -14 39
Total 1,266 -427 184 12 1,036
Netting of deferred taxes -934 -821
Deferred tax liabilities, net 332 215

The Group’s operations in the Netherlands and Sweden have been unprofitable. On 31 December 2021, realized losses amounted to EUR 9,639 (8,581) thousand, of which unrecognized deferred tax assets 
amounted to EUR 1,947 (1,734) thousand. Of the losses, EUR 6,360 thousand will be due during 2024-2027 and EUR 3,279 thousand later. Nixu A/S has been unprofitable. Deferred tax assets of EUR 393 (323) 
thousand have been recognized.

Key solutions and estimates based on judgment: 
recognition of deferred tax assets 

Judgement is required in assessing whether deferred tax 
assets and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognized on 
the balance sheet. Deferred tax assets are recognized only 
where it is considered more likely than not that they will be 
recovered, which is dependent on the generation of suffi-
cient future taxable profits. Assumptions about the gener-
ation of future taxable profits depend on management’s 
estimates of future cash flows that relate among others to 
the amount of future revenue, operating costs and finance 

costs. The Group’s ability to generate taxable income de-
pends also on factors related to general economy, finance, 
competitiveness and regulations that the Group is unable 
to control. These estimates and assumptions are subject 
to risk and uncertainty, hence it is possible that changes 
in circumstances will alter expectations, which may impact 
the amount of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabil-
ities recognized on the balance sheet and the amount of 
other tax losses and temporary differences not yet recog-
nized. 

8.2 Related Party Transactions
Related parties of the Group consist of the parent com-
pany and Group companies mentioned in note 4.3. Re-
lated parties are also key management personnel and 
their close family members as well as entities controlled 
by them. Key management personnel are the members of 
the Board of Directors, CEO and Group’s Corporate Lead-
ership Team. The remuneration of the key management 
personnel including their ownership in Nixu is presented in 
note 3.3. For information on loans granted to personnel in 
connection with a share issue 2019, see note 3.2 Employee 
share-based incentive plan. 
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Purchase of goods and services

EUR thousand 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020
Purchases of services 2 0

Nixu has purchased training services from a related party of a related party. Purchased services have been purchased at market 
price. 

8.3 Contingent items and commitments, including leases

Guarantees and contingent liabilities granted 

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Mortgages given on own behalf:
Business mortgages 10,118 10,118

Loan amount 4,938 5,592

Other commitments
EUR thousand 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Rental deposits 265 269

1) Business mortgages of Nixu Oyj and shares of Nixu Ab (100 pcs) were used as collateral for Nixu Corporation’s 4.9 MEUR financial 
institution loan and 5.5 MEUR credit limit. At the end of the review period, the credit limits have remained unused.
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8.4 New and amended standards and  
interpretations adopted in 2021
The Group has applied new and amended standards and interpretations 
which are effective from 1 January 2021. The IFRS standards and amend-
ments thereto that took effect in 2021 did not have a material impact on 
the result or the financial position of the Group or on the presentation of  
the financial statements.

8.5 Events After the Accountind Period
Nixu Corporation received a notification pursuant to Chapter 9, Section 
5 of the Securities Markets Act from Aktia Rahastoyhtiö Oy on January 
3, 2022. According to the notification, the aggregate ownership of Aktia 
Mikro Markka, Aktia Nordic Micro Cap, Aktia Nordic Small Cap, Aktia Se-
cura investment funds, managed by Aktia Rahastoyhtiö Oy, in Nixu Cor-
poration’s shares increased above five per cent threshold on January 1, 
2022. (Stock exchange release on January 3, 2022)

The Nixu Board of Directors and CEO Petri Kairinen agreed together that 
Nixu’s CEO will change for the next growth phase. Kairinen resigned on 
February 14, 2022 to join another company. He will continue as Nixu’s CEO 
for the time being and will be available to serve Nixu until June 2022. 
(Stock Exchange Release, on February 14, 2022)

8.6 Company information
Name of reporting entity or  
other means of identification Nixu Corporation

Explanation of Change in  
name of reporting entity  N/A

End of reporting period  31 Dec 2021

Domicile of entity Espoo

Legal form of entity Public limited Company

Country of incorporation Finland

Address of entity’s registered office Keilaranta 15 B, 02150 ESPOO 

Principal place of business Espoo

Name of parent entity Nixu Corporation

Name of ultimate parent of Group  Nixu Corporation
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Parent Company’s Income Statement

1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020
Notes EUR EUR

REVENUE 1. 35,100,034.08 35,814,919.49
Other operating income 2. 209,754.20 117,944.95

Materials and services 3.
Materials and services -9,055,053.84 -7,811,147.01
Materials and services in total -9,055,053.84 -7,811,147.01

Personnel costs 4.
Wages and salaries -17,133,753.44 -16,619,007.46
Social security costs

Pension costs -2,933,098.08 -2,581,557.78
Other social security costs -597,496.30 -525,572.07

Personnel costs in total -20,664,347.82 -19,726,137.31

Amortization and depreciation
Amortization and depreciation according to plan -392,629.10 -522,104.83

Amortization and depreciation in total -392,629.10 -522,104.83

Other operating expenses 5. -5,231,274.25 -5,338,857.05

OPERATING PROFIT -33,516.73 2,534,618.24

Financial income and expenses 6.
From group companies 42,495.97 122,060.01
Receivables from non-group companies 6,394.46 423.28

Reduction in value of investments held as non-current assets 0.00 -7,100,000.00
 Interest expenses and other financial expenses

Payables to non-group companies -399,858.26 -514,744.32
Financial income and expenses in total -350,967.83 -7,492,261.03

PROFIT BEFORE APPROPRIATIONS AND TAXES -384,484.56 -4,957,642.79

Appropriations

Change in cumulative accelerated depreciation 0.00 47,114.35
Intra-group financial transfer 7. 700,000.00 500,000.00

Income taxes 8. -147,358.58 -606,216.24

PROFIT FOR THE ACCOUNTING PERIOD 168,156.86 -5,016,744.68
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Parent Company’s Balance Sheet

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Notes EUR EUR

ASSETS 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
Intangible assets 9.

Other long-term expenditure 1,044,827.10 1,347,867.51
Intangible assets in total 1,044,827.10 1,347,867.51

Tangible assets 10.
Machinery and equipment 145,198.75 246,870.15
Tangible assets in total 145,198.75 246,870.15

Investments 11.
Shares in group companies 14,772,122.06 14,123,979.82

Other shares 30,133.15 0.00
Investments in total 14,802,255.21 14,123,979.82

NON-CURRENT ASSETS IN TOTAL 15,992,281.06 15,718,717.48

CURRENT ASSETS 
Receivables 12.

Long-term receivables
Inter-company receivables 1,447,113.13 1,040,769.00
Other non-current receivables 210,578.80 203,558.21
Non-current receivables in total 1,657,691.93 1,244,327.21

Current receivables
Accounts receivable 6,512,231.88 7,200,259.95
Inter-company receivables 3,569,944.68 3,146,745.13
Other receivables 55,244.45 14,585.68
Prepayments and accrued income 3,966,749.02 2,839,901.11
Current receivables in total 14,104,170.03 13,201,491.87

Receivables in total 15,761,861.96 14,445,819.08

Cash in hand and at bank 1,388,750.02 2,379,356.02

CURRENT ASSETS IN TOTAL 17,150,611.98 16,825,175.10

ASSETS IN TOTAL 33,142,893.04 32,543,892.58

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Notes EUR EUR

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 13.

Share capital 94,821.20 94,821.20
Invested unrestricted equity reserve 19,372,348.40 19,372,348.40
Retained profit -3,320,648.55 1,748,357.43
Profit for the accounting period 168,156.86 -5,016,744.68

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 16,314,677.91 16,198,782.35

LIABILITIES 14.

Non-Current

Loans from financial institutions 2,364,958.31 4,979,820.14
Non-current liabilities in total 2,364,958.31 4,979,820.14
Current
Loans from financial institutions 2,690,000.00 625,000.00
Accounts payable 3,182,172.55 1,586,896.30
Inter-company liabilities 953,807.70 554,443.53
Other liabilities 1,465,554.24 1,883,959.30
Accruals and deferred income 6,171,722.33 6,714,990.96
Current liabilities in total 14,463,256.82 11,365,290.09

LIABILITIES 16,828,215.13 16,345,110.23

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES IN TOTAL 33,142,893.04 32,543,892.58
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Parent Company’s Cash Flow Statement

EUR EUR
1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020

Profit/loss before appropriations and taxes -394,040 -4,957,643
Depreciation, amortization and write-downs 392,629 522,105
Other non-cash income and expenses -1,859 -5,875
Financial income and expenses 354,016 7,492,261
Change in working capital 205,060 773,201
Interest and other financial expenses paid -363,099 -421,058
Interest from operations received 275,507 10,352
Taxes paid -907,101 33,475
Cash flow from operations -438,887 3,446,818

Investments -424,368 -1,512,735
Cash flow from investments -424,368 -1,512,735

Repayments of non-current loans -625,000 -1,737,014
Group contribution received 500,000 0
Repurchase of own shares 0 -90,740
Net cash flow from financing -125,000 -1,827,754

Change in liquid assets -988,255 106,328

Liquid assets at the beginning of the accounting period 2,379,356 2,286,205
Net increase/decrease in liquid assets -2,351 -13,178
Liquid assets at the end of the accounting period 1,388,750 2,379,356
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 Accounting principles

 Principles of valuation 

Tangible assets   

Fixed assets are capitalized in the balance sheet at direct 
acquisition cost less planned depreciation. The deprecia-
tion of the fixed assets is based on the depreciation sched-
ule.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the fixed assets.  

 Intangible assets

 Intangible rights 3 years

 Other long term expenses 5 years

 Goodwill  10 years

 Tangible assets

  Machinery and equipment 5 years

  Furniture 5 years

  Vehicles 5 years

Research and development expenses

R&D expenses are entered as expenses during the financial 
year in which they are incurred.

Foreign currency transactions

The valuation of the receivables and liabilities denominat-
ed in foreign currencies is based on the exchange rates 
quoted by the European Central Bank on the reporting date. 

Derivative contracts and hedge accounting

Hedging instruments related to interest rates on finance 
company loans are measured at their fair value. Interest 
derivatives are presented in financial items to the extent 
recognized in the income statement. 

Revenue
Annual support service agreements are accrued over the 
financial year.

The principle of recognition according to the degree of 
completion shall be used for the recognition of long-term 
projects, provided that the separate margin of the contract 
can be assessed with sufficient accuracy. Part-recognition 
is made for the contract period according to the maturity of 
the project, which is determined by cost monitoring. If esti-
mates of the project’s end result change, the income-ad-
justed sales will be changed in the financial year in which 
the change is first known and estimated.

Impact in the financial reporting of the Covid-19 
pandemic

The Group has estimated the accounting effects of the 
Covid-19 pandemic. In general, the Covid-19 pandemic has 
not had a significant impact on Nixu’s figures and asset 
values in the 2021 period. Most of the customers’ digitaliza-
tion projects have continued despite the pandemic.

Nixu estimates that the rapid increase in digitalization in 
companies due to the pandemic and the possible post-
poned implementation of information security projects will 
be reflected in the growing demand for cybersecurity ser-
vices in the future.

To prepare for the potential impact of the Covid-19 pan-
demic, the company has altogether EUR 5,500 thousand 
credit facility agreements.

The financial statements are available at the company’s 
office at Keilaranta 15, Espoo.
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Notes to the income statement

1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020
1. REVENUE BY MARKET AREA

Finland 29,413,828.56 31,581,596.01
Foreign markets 5,686,205.52 4,233,323.48

Total 35,100,034.08 35,814,919.49

Partial revenue recognition 3,525,844.94 3,507,564.25
% of revenue 10.05% 9.79%

2. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Grants from Business Finland and EU 53,811.00 68,965.37
Other income 155,943.20 48,979.58

Total 209,754.20 117,944.95

3. MATERIALS AND SERVICES
Externally sourced materials and services -9,055,053.84 -7,811,147.01

Total -9,055,053.84 -7,811,147.01

4. PERSONNEL COSTS

MANAGEMENT WAGES AND SALARIES
Members of the Board and CEO’s 449,000.00 322,555.00

NUMBER OF PERSONNEL
Number of personnel 257 254

257 254

5. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
Rent payments -638,440.72 -680,672.72
Purchased services -925,025.11 -849,826.46
ICT costs -712,084.07 -1,050,841.74
Marketing costs -411,363.07 -483,081.01
Other operating expenses -2,544,361.28 -2,274,435.12

Total -5,231,274.25 -5,338,857.05

Auditors’ fees
Audit fees billed by PWC -100,932.30 -123,156.95
Consulting fees billed by PWC -21,422.51 -5,158.25
Tax consultancy by PWC 0.00 -1,000.00

Total -122,354.81 -129,315.20

6. FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020

Write-downs on long term investments 0.00 -7,100,000.00
Other interest income and financial income 
from group companies 42,495.97 122,060.01
Other interest income and financial income 
from non-group companies 6,394.46 423.28
Other interest expenses -399,858.26 -514,744.32

Total -350,967.83 -7,492,261.03

7. APPROPRIATIONS
Extra-ordinary costs

Intra-group contributions 700,000.00 500,000.00
Total 700,000.00 500,000.00

8. INCOME TAXES
Income taxes in the accounting period -134,803.52 -594,730.17
Income taxes from previous accounting periods -12,555.06 -11,486.07

Total -147,358.58 -606,216.24

Notes to Parent Company Financial Statements
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Notes to the balance sheet

2021
EUR

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Other intangible 

assets
Intangible  

rights Total

Acquisition cost at the start of the 
accounting period 3,156,720.11 385,000.00 3,541,720.11
Increases 8,000.00 0.00 8,000.00
Acquisition cost at the end of the 
accounting period 3,164,720.11 385,000.00 3,549,720.11

Accumulated amortization and 
impairments at the start of the 
accounting period -1,808,852.60 -385,000.00 -2,193,852.60
Amortization during the accounting 
period -311,040.41 0.00 -311,040.41
Accumulated amortization at the 
end of the period -2,119,893.01 -385,000.00 -2,504,893.01

Book value at the end of the period 1,044,827.10 0.00 1,044,827.10

10. TANGIBLE ASSETS
Machinery and 

equipment Total

Acquisition cost at the start of the 
accounting period 777,575.61 777,575.61
Increases 253.80 253.80
Acquisition cost at the end of the 
accounting period 777,829.41 777,829.41

Accumulated depreciation and im-
pairments at the start of the account-
ing period -530,705.46 -1,151,310.58
Depreciation during the  
accounting period -101,925.20 -101,925.20
Accumulated depreciation at the 
end of the period -632,630.66 -1,253,235.78

Book value at the end of the period 145,198.75 145,198.75

11. INVESTMENTS
Other  

shares
Shares in  

subsidiaries Total

Acquisition cost at the start of the  
accounting period 0.00 23,964,715.82 23,964,715.82
Increases 30,133.15 657,435.83 687,568.98
Decreases (-), shares in Group companies 0.00 -9,293.59 -9,293.59
Acquisition cost at the end of the  
accounting period 30,133.15 24,612,858.06 24,642,991.21

Accumulated depreciation and  
impairments at the start of the  
accounting period 0.00 -9,840,736.00 -9,840,736.00
Accumulated depreciation at the end of 
the period 0.00 -9,840,736.00 -9,840,736.00

Book value at the end of the period 30,133.15 14,772,122.06 14,802,255.21
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12. RECEIVABLES 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

INTER-COMPANY RECEIVABLES
Non-current

Loans receivable, non-current 1,447,113.13 1,040,769.00
Current

Accounts receivable 2,869,944.68 2,602,289.12
Current prepayments and accrued income 700,000.00 544,456.01

Current receivables in total 3,569,944.68 3,146,745.13

KEY PREPAYMENT AND ACCRUED INCOME ITEMS
Partial revenue recognition related income 182,549.08 14,163.01
License fee deferral 2,193,772.88 1,224,233.47
Production license 263,216.76 326,674.65
Production licenses, charged from customers 552,617.17 650,195.17
Deferred purchase invoices 591,841.86 616,612.01
Income tax receivable 174,567.27 0.00
Other prepayments and accrued income 8,184.00 8,022.80

Total 3,966,749,02 2,839,901.11

13. SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Restricted shareholders’ equity:
Share capital at the start of the accounting period 94,821.20 94,821.20
Share capital at the end of the accounting period 94,821.20 94,821.20

Restricted shareholders’ equity in total 94,821.20 94,821.20

Unrestricted equity:
Invested unrestricted equity reserve at the start of the 
accounting period 19,372,348.40 19,372,348.40
Invested unrestricted equity reserve at the end of the 
accounting period 19,372,348.40 19,372,348.40

Retained profit at the start of the accounting period -3,268,387.25 1,839,097.03
Directed issue -52,261.30 0.00
Purchase of own shares 0.00 -90,739.60
Retained profit at the end of the accounting period -3,320,648.55 1,748,357.43
Profit for the accounting period 168,156.86 -5,016,744.68

Unrestricted equity in total 16,219,856.71 16,103,961.15

Shareholders’ equity in total 16,314,677.91 16,198,782.35

Calculation of assets subject to profit distribution
Profit subject to profit distribution
Retained earnings -3,268,387.25 2,120,586.97
Purchase of own shares 0.00 -90,739.60
Directed issue -52,261.30 0.00
Result for the period 168,156.86 -5,016,744.68
Profit subject to profit distribution -3,152,491.69 -2,986,897.31

Other assets subject to profit distribution
Reserve for invested non-restricted equity 19,372,348.40 19,372,348.40
Other assets subject to profit distribution 19,372,348.40 19,372,348.40

Assets subject to profit distribution in total 16,219,856.71 16,385,451.09
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16. HOLDINGS IN OTHER UNDERTAKINGS

Name Domicile Ownership interest
Nixu Certification Oy Espoo, Finland 100%
Nixu B.V. Netherlands 100%
Nixu AB Sweden 100%
Nixu A/S Denmark 100%
Nixu Cybersecurity SRL Romania 4%

14. LIABILITIES 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans from financial institutions 2,690,000.00 625,000.00
Total 2,690,000.00 625,000.00
Other liabilities

Other current liabilities 1,465,554.24 1,883,959.30
Total 1,465,554.24 1,883,959.30

Material items included in accrued expenses

Advances received, partial revenue recognitions 0.00 3,360.50

Advances received, other 2,506,657.79 1,445,878.27
Annual leave pay, including statutory social se-
curity contributions 2,523,835.15 2,516,771.38
Accrued payroll 61,036.00 77,872.00
Other accruals and deferred income 1,080,193.39 2,671,108.81

Total 6,171,722.33 6,714,990.96

15. COLLATERAL, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND OTH-
ER COMMITMENTS 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Leasing liabilities
Amounts payable for leasing contracts

Maturing within the next 12 months 644,077.86 430,779.00
Maturing in more than 12 months 555,006.26 901,387.00

Total 1,199,084.12 1,332,166.00

Other commitments
Rent liabilities 1,037,534.50 1,861,837.00
Mortgages 10,118,644.29 10,118,644.29
Deposits and pledged funds 210,578.80 208,113.75

Total 11 366 757,59 12 188 595,04

Business mortgages of Nixu Oyj and shares of Nixu Ab (100 pcs) and Nixu A/S (100 pcs) were 
used as collateral for Nixu Corporation’s 4.9 MEUR financial institution loan and 5.5 MEUR credit 
limit. At the end of the review period, the credit limits have remained unused.



   ANNUAL REVIEW    FINANCIAL REVIEW
Signatures to the Financial Statements and Annual Report 

73

   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Signatures to the Financial Statements and Annual Report

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CEO

In Espoo 16 th of February 2022

Kimmo Rasila Marko Kauppi 
Chairman of the Board  Vice Chairman of the Board

Jaya Baloo Kati Hagros 
Member of the Board Member of the Board

Jari Niska Anders Silwer 
Member of the Board  Member of the Board 

Petri Kairinen   
CEO 

AUDITOR’S NOTE

Our auditors’ report has been issued today.

In Espoo 16 th of February 2022

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Authorized Public Accountants

Enel Sintonen 
Authorised Public Accountant (KHT)
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Auditor’s Report 

To the Annual General Meeting of Nixu Oyj

Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements 

Opinion 
In our opinion 

• the consolidated financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the group’s financial position and financial 
performance and cash flows in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopt-
ed by the EU.

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
parent company’s financial performance and financial 
position in accordance with the laws and regulations 
governing the preparation of the financial statements in 
Finland and comply with statutory requirements.

Our opinion is consistent with the additional report to the 
Audit Committee.What we have audited

What we have audited

We have audited the financial statements of Nixu Oyj (busi-
ness identity code 0721811-7) for the year ended 31 Decem-
ber 2021. The financial statements comprise:

• the consolidated statement of financial position, compre-
hensive income, cash flows, changes in equity and notes, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies

• the parent company’s balance sheet, income state-
ment, statement of cash flows and notes.

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing 
practice in Finland. Our responsibilities under good auditing 
practice are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence

We are independent of the parent company and of the 
group companies in accordance with the ethical require-
ments that are applicable in Finland and are relevant to our 
audit, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, the non-audit ser-
vices that we have provided to the parent company and to 
the group companies are in accordance with the applica-
ble law and regulations in Finland and we have not provid-
ed non-audit services that are prohibited under Article 5(1) 
of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014. The non-audit services that 
we have provided are disclosed in note 2.4 to the Financial 
Statements.

Our Audit Approach

Overview

• Overall group materiality: EUR 362 thousand, which rep-
resents 0.7% of consolidated revenue

• Audit scope: We have audited Nixu Group companies 
(incl. parent company) that are most significant from 
the group’s financial position and result point of view. In 
addition, we have performed group level analytical and 
other audit procedures to assess unusual movements 
across other group companies.

• Revenue recognition

• Valuation of goodwill

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiali-
ty and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the 
financial statements. In particular, we considered where 
management made subjective judgements; for example, 
in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved 
making assumptions and considering future events that 
are inherently uncertain.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application 
of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free from 

material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to 
fraud or error. They are considered material if individually 
or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of the financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined 
certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including 
the overall group materiality for the consolidated financial 
statements as set out in the table below. These, together 
with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the 
scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our 
audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstate-
ments on the financial statements as a whole.

Overall group materiality  
EUR 362 thousand

How we determined it 
0.7% of revenue

Rationale for the materiality benchmark applied 
We chose revenue as the benchmark because, in our view, 
it is the benchmark against which the performance of the 
group is commonly measured by users, and is a generally 
accepted benchmark. We chose 0.7% which is within the 
range of acceptable quantitative materiality thresholds in 
auditing standards.

How we tailored our group audit scope

Nixu Group has operations in Finland, Sweden, Denmark, 
Netherlands and Romania. We tailored the scope of our 
audit, taking into account the structure of the group, the 
accounting processes and controls. 

We have audited Nixu Group companies (incl. parent com-
pany) that are most significant from the group’s financial 
position and result point of view. In addition, we have per-
formed group level analytical and other audit procedures 
to assess unusual movements across other group compa-
nies.

By performing the procedures above at legal entities, com-
bined with additional procedures at the Group level, we 
have obtained sufficient and appropriate evidence re-
garding the financial information of the Group as a whole 
to provide a basis for our opinion on the consolidated fi-
nancial statements.
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Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our profession-
al judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of man-
agement override of internal controls, including among 
other matters consideration of whether there was evidence 
of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement 
due to fraud.

Key audit matter in the audit of the group

Revenue recognition

Refer to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements for 
the related disclosures.

The Group’s revenue consists of 

-  projects and assignments

-  managed services

-  continuous services 

-  technology resale 

Due to materiality and judgment associated with the tim-
ing of revenue recognition we have considered revenue 
recognition as key audit matter in the audit of the Group.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our audit procedures included, among others

-  Assessing the appropriateness of the Group’s revenue 
recognition accounting policy

-  Evaluating the design of certain key controls over reve-
nue recognition and testing the operating effectiveness 
of those 

-  Testing a sample of revenue transactions and sales 
contracts to ensure that revenue has been recognized 
based on terms of sales contracts and that the Group’s 
accounting policy is applied. 

Valuation of goodwill

Refer to note 4.2 to the consolidated financial statements 
for the related disclosures.

During the years Nixu Group has entered new markets 
through business acquisitions. As a result, the consolidat-
ed statement of financial position includes a significant 
amount of goodwill. 

Group management carries out impairment testing of 
goodwill at least annually. Impairment testing result is de-
pendent on management estimates, e.g. expected short-
and long term growth and profitability rates, discount rates 
and other. 

Due to materiality and judgment associated with the valu-
ation of goodwill we have considered it as key audit mat-
ter in the audit of the Group. We specially focused on those 
cash generating units, whose value-in-use and carrying 

value difference have been smallest in previous years and 
therefore sensitive to changes in estimates. 

 Our audit procedures included, among others, 

-  Assessing key inputs in the impairment calculations 
such as revenue growth, profitability and discount rate, 
by reference to the Board approved budgets, data ex-
ternal to the Group and our own views.

-  Evaluating appropriateness of value-in-use valua-
tion method used and traced input information to the 
source. 

-  Assessing the historical accuracy of forecasts prepared 
by management by comparing actual results for the 
year with the original forecasts. 

-  Assessing the adequacy of the consolidated financial 
statements notes. 

We have no key audit matters to report with respect to our 
audit of the parent company financial statements.

There are no significant risks of material misstatement re-
ferred to in Article 10(2c) of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 
with respect to the consolidated financial statements or the 
parent company financial statements.
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Responsibilities of the Board of Directors 
and the Managing Director for the Finan-
cial Statements
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are re-
sponsible for the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the EU, and of financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with the laws and regula-
tions governing the preparation of financial statements in 
Finland and comply with statutory requirements. The Board 
of Directors and the Managing Director are also responsible 
for such internal control as they determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors 
and the Managing Director are responsible for assessing 
the parent company’s and the group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters re-
lating to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting. The financial statements are prepared using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an 
intention to liquidate the parent company or the group or 
to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but 
to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Rea-
sonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
good auditing practice will always detect a material mis-
statement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to in-
fluence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with good auditing prac-
tice, we exercise professional judgment and maintain pro-
fessional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or er-
ror, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omis-
sions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the parent company’s or the group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Direc-
tors’ and the Managing Director’s use of the going con-
cern basis of accounting and based on the audit evi-
dence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the parent company’s or the group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw at-
tention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or condi-
tions may cause the parent company or the group to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events so that the financial 
statements give a true and fair view.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regard-
ing the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance re-
garding, among other matters, the planned scope and tim-
ing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communi-
cate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report be-
cause the adverse consequences of doing so would rea-
sonably be expected to outweigh the public interest bene-
fits of such communication.
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Other Reporting Requirements 

Appointment

Nixu Oyj became a public interest entity in 2 July 2018. We 
were first appointed as auditors by the annual general 
meeting on 5 July 1999 and our appointment represents a 
total period of uninterrupted engagement of 23 years. 

Other Information 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are re-
sponsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the report of the Board of Directors and the infor-
mation included in the Annual Report, but does not include 
the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially in-
consistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. With respect to the report of the Board of Direc-
tors, our responsibility also includes considering whether the 
report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in accor-
dance with the applicable laws and regulations.

In our opinion

• the information in the report of the Board of Directors is 

consistent with the information in the financial statements

• the report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in 
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of the other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

Helsinki 16 February 2022

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy

Authorised Public Accountants

Enel Sintonen

Authorised Public Accountant (KHT)
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Independent Auditor’s Reasonable 
Assurance Report on Nixu Oyj’s 
ESEF Financial Statements

To the Management of Nixu Oyj

We have been engaged by the Management of Nixu Oyj 
(business identity code 0721811-7) (hereinafter also “the 
Company”) to perform a reasonable assurance engage-
ment on the Company’s consolidated IFRS financial state-
ments for the financial year 1 January - 31 December 2021 
in European Single Electronic Format (“ESEF financial state-
ments”).

Management’s Responsibility for the ESEF 
Financial Statements 
The Management of Nixu Oyj is responsible for preparing 
the ESEF financial statements so that they comply with the 
requirements as specified in the Commission Delegated 
Regulation (EU) 2019/815 of 17 December 2018 (“ESEF re-
quirements”). This responsibility includes the design, im-
plementation and maintenance of internal control relevant 
to the preparation of ESEF financial statements that are free 
from material noncompliance with the ESEF requirements, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Our Independence and Quality Control 
We have complied with the independence and other ethical 
requirements of the International Code of Ethics for Profes-
sional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants (IESBA Code), which is founded on 
fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, professional 
competence and due care, confidentiality and professional 
behavior.

Our firm applies International Standard on Quality Control 
1 and accordingly maintains a comprehensive system of 
quality control including documented policies and pro-
cedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, 
professional standards and applicable legal and regulato-
ry requirements. 

Our Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the ESEF fi-
nancial statements based on the procedures we have per-
formed and the evidence we have obtained. 

We conducted our reasonable assurance engagement in 
accordance with the International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engage-
ments Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 
Information. That standard requires that we plan and per-
form this engagement to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the ESEF financial statements are free from 
material noncompliance with the ESEF requirements. 

A reasonable assurance engagement in accordance with 
ISAE 3000 (Revised) involves performing procedures to ob-
tain evidence about the ESEF financial statements compli-
ance with the ESEF requirements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assess-
ment of the risks of material noncompliance of the ESEF 
financial statements with the ESEF requirements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
we considered internal control relevant to the Company’s 
preparation of the ESEF financial statements.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Opinion
In our opinion, Nixu Oyj’s ESEF financial statements for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2021 comply, in all mate-
rial respects, with the ESEF requirements. 

Our reasonable assurance report has been prepared in 
accordance with the terms of our engagement. We do not 
accept, or assume responsibility to anyone else, except for 
Nixu Oyj for our work, for this report, or for the opinion that 
we have formed.

In Helsinki 16 February 2022

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy

Authorised Public Accountants

Enel Sintonen 

Authorised Public Accountant (KHT)
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Nixu as An Investment
Nixu is a growth company operating in the cybersecurity sector. Nixu operates in a growing field, and, in the last few years, its consolidation 
development has been strong. Nixu has a strong brand and it has established its position as a trusted cybersecurity partner for its clients. 
Nixu’s long history in the sector and a clearly defined growth strategy for the coming years makes it an interesting investment. As a public 
company, Nixu’s method of governance is transparent and compliant with the Securities Market Act. Nixu has an extensive owner base: at the 
end of 2021, it had 5,152 shareholders. 

Relatively 
low-risk 
service 
company

Possibility 
to grow 
with market 
consolidation

Focused 
and credible 
growth 
strategy

Good 
governance 
and liquid 
share

Growing 
cybersecurity 
market

Invest in future – Invest in Nixu
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Information for Shareholders 
Nixu publishes in addition to its financial statements and annual report, its half-year financial report, CEO’s review, revenue information, EBITDA 
and adjusted EBITDA for the first and third quarters, and stock exchange and press releases in accordance with Nixu’s disclosure policy. These 
releases and a range of other information for investors is available on the company website at www.nixu.com/investors. On the investor 
pages, it is also possible to sign up for Nixu’s news. 

February 10, 2022 Financial statements release 2021 
Week 7, 2022 Annual report 2021 
April 14, 2022  CEO’s review, revenue, EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA information Q1/2022
August 11, 2022  Half-year financial report 
October 13, 2022 CEO’s review, revenue, EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA information Q3/2021

Annual General Meeting 2022 

Nixu’s Annual General Meeting 2022 is scheduled to be held on April 19, 2022 at 4:00 
PM EET. The company’s Board of Directors will send out an official call for the Annual 
General Meeting at a later stage. Additional instructions on registering and the AGM 
documents are available on the company website at 
https://www.nixu.com/investors/general-meeting

Dividend payment

On December 31, 2021, the parent company’s assets subject to profit distribution 
amounted to EUR 16,219,856.71 of which the result for the year amounts to 
EUR 168,156.86 . The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that 
no dividend be paid for 2021.

Basic information on shares
Listing of NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy  

Trade symbol: NIXU 

Number of shares: 7,425,219

IR contact 

Nixu CEO, Petri Kairinen 

petri.kairinen@nixu.com
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Nixu Corporation is a publicly listed company registered in Finland. The company’s share is listed on Nasdaq Helsinki. The Nixu Corporation corporate governance system has been created 
based on the laws of Finland, the company’s Articles of Association, the applicable securities markets laws as well as other rules and regulations concerning listed companies. This statement 
has been issued separately from the report by the Board of Directors and included in Nixu’s Annual Report 2021. The statement is also published on the Nixu website www.nixu.com/investors. 

In 2021, Nixu has, without exception, complied with the Corporate Governance Code for Finnish Listed Companies (the “Corporate Governance Code”). The Corporate Governance Code for 
Finnish listed companies is available on-line on the Finnish Securities Market Association website www.cgfinland.fi/en. 

Corporate Governance Statement 2021

Nixu´s governance structure

The ultimate authority over the company 
is held by the shareholders, who exercise 
their control at General Meetings. Both the 
Members of the Board of Directors and 
the company auditor are elected by the 
General Meeting. The Board of Directors 
is responsible for the Nixu strategy as 
well as for controlling and supervising the 
company’s business and appointing the 
company CEO. Supported by the Corporate 
Leadership Team, the CEO is responsible 
for running the company’s business and 
deploying the company’s strategic and 
operational goals.

SHAREHOLDERS

GENERAL MEETING

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CEO

CORPORATE 
LEADERSHIP TEAM

AUDIT COMMITTEE

PERSONNEL AND  
REMUNERATION  

COMMITTEE

AUDITOR

INTERNAL CONTROL
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General Meeting
The General Meeting is the supreme decision-making body of Nixu Corporation. Pursuant to 
the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act, the General Meeting decides on amendments to 
the company’s Articles of Association, adoption of its financial statements, use of the profit 
shown on the adopted balance sheet and distribution of dividends, discharge from liability 
of the Members of the Board of Directors and the CEO, increases and decreasing capital, 
and the appointment of the Members of the Board of Directors and the auditors.

Board of Directors
According to the Articles of Association, Nixu’s Board of Directors includes no less than three 
and no more than seven ordinary members and a sufficient number of deputy members. 
The General Meeting determines the exact number of members to be elected and elects 
the members for the term of service, which expires at the end of the first annual general 
meeting following their election. 

The Board of Directors elects a Chairman and a Deputy Chairman from among its members. 
The Board of Directors convenes as often as necessary to perform its duties. The Board of 
Directors constitutes a quorum when at least half of its members are present in the meeting.

Tasks of Nixu’s Board 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the appropriate organization of the company’s gov-
ernance and operations pursuant to the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act and other 
regulations. The Board of Directors decides on the following matters: 

• Nixu’s strategy,

• dividend policy,

• business plan and budget,

• convening General Meetings and preparing the Board of Directors’ proposals to General 
Meetings,

• financial statements and half-year financial reports, as well as the stock exchange 
releases concerning them,

• substantial corporate arrangements and investments, and

• appointment and discharge of the CEO as well as the terms and conditions of the CEO’s 
service.

The roles and responsibilities of the company’s Board of Directors are defined in detail in 
written charter approved by the Board available at www.nixu.com/investors/board-directors. 

Each year, the Board of Directors evaluates its performance as a self-assessment.

Board Diversity Principles 

Diversity supports the overall goal that Board of Directors has optimal competence pro-
file to support the Company’s existing and future business. Diversity is conceived as an 
integral part and a success factor enabling the achievement of the Company’s strategic 
goals and the continuous improvement of customer-driven operations. 

Important factors for the Company are the mutually complementary expertise of the 
members, their education and experience in different professional areas and industrial 
sectors, businesses in various stages of development, leadership experience, and per-
sonal capacities. The diversity of the Board of Directors is supported by experience in an 
international operating environment and various industries as well as different cultures 
and by consideration to the age and gender breakdown. 

Nixu’s long-term goals is to maintain a balanced gender ratio among the Board of Direc-
tors. To achieve this goal, whenever possible, the application and assessment process for 
new Board members is handled jointly by a mixed-gender team. One of the priorities in 
selecting new Board members is to ensure that the Board of Directors will be collectively 
able to support the development of the company’s current and future business.

Board of Directors on December 31, 2021 

The Annual General Meeting, held on March 30, 2021, elected six members to the Board of 
Directors. The members of the previous Board, Kimmo Rasila, Marko Kauppi, Kati Hagros, 
Anders Silwer and Jaya Baloo were re-elected. Jari Niska was elected as a newl mem-
ber. Kimmo Rasila serves as the Chairman of the Board and Marko Kauppi as the Deputy 
Chairman. 

The Board of Directors, that was elected by the AGM on March 30, 2021, convened 14 times 
in 2021. The objectives for 2021 regarding the Board diversity principles are assessed to 
have been achieved.

Details of the members and their independence, committee membership and meeting 
attendance are provided in the following table on December 31, 2021. Further information 
on Board members is available at www.nixu.com/about. 

   ANNUAL REVIEW    FINANCIAL REVIEW
Corporate Governance Statement 2021

83

   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE



Name / Position Year of 
birth Education Main 

occupation Shares Independence

Meeting participation as of Mar 30, 2021

Board of 
Directors

Audit  
Committee

Personnel and 
Remuneration 
Committee

Kimmo Rasila
Chairman
Member of the Board since 2005

1957 MSc (Econ) CEO,  
ExecNet Oy 

158,438 shares
Shares held by 
related parties: 
4,000

Dependent of  
the Company
Independent of the 
Company’s major 
shareholders

14/14 3/3

Marko Kauppi
Deputy Chairman
Member of the Board since 2011

1970 MSc (Econ) Entrepreneur, 
Tenendum Oy

16,980 shares
Through 
Tenendum Oy 
248 800 shares

Independent of 
the Company and 
Company’s major 
shareholders

14/14 6/6

Kati Hagros
Member of the Board since 2014
Chair of the Personnel and 
Remuneration Committee

1970 MSc (Tech), 
MSc (Soc)

CDO, Aalto 
University

3,892 shares
Independent of 
the Company and 
Company’s major 
shareholders

13/14 3/3

Anders Silwer
Member of the Board since 2019

1959
Lieutenant 
General 
(Res)

Entrepreneur, 
Anders Silwer 
AB.

653 shares

Independent of 
the Company and 
Company’s major 
shareholders

14/14 6/6

Jari Niska
Member of the Board since 2021
Chair of the Audit Committee

1971 MSc (Econ) Board member 653 shares

Independent of 
the Company and 
Company’s major 
shareholders

14/14 6/6

Jaya Baloo
Member of the Board since 2020 1973

Tufts 
University,  
USA 
(International 
Relations)

CISO, Avast 653 shares

Independent of 
the Company and 
Company’s major 
shareholders

4/14 3/3

Board of Directors 
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Board committees
In order to carry out its duties more effectively, the Board of Directors has established an 
Audit Committee in 2018 and a Personnel and Remuneration Committee in 2020. As admin-
istrative support bodies, the Committees focuses on handling and preparing matters for 
the Board of Directors, and the Committees has no independent power to make decisions. 

Audit Committee

The Board of Directors prepares and establishes a charter for the Audit Committee, which 
defines the responsibilities. Examples of the Audit Committee’s responsibilities include over-
sight of Nixu’s financial reporting and accounting, monitoring the statutory audit of financial 
statements and consolidated financial statements as well as monitoring the performance 
of Nixu’s internal control, internal auditing efforts, and risk management systems. Addition-
ally, the committee is tasked with reviewing the company’s annual Corporate Governance 
Statement. 

2021

In 2021, the Audit Committee has consisted of the following members: Jari Niska (Chair), 
Marko Kauppi and Anders Silwer. Each of the Audit Committee members is independent of 
the company and its substantial shareholders. In 2021, the Audit Committee convened six 
times.

Personnel and Remuneration Committee

In April, 2020, Nixu Corporation’s Board of Directors established a Personnel and Remuner-
ation Committee, which assists the Board of Directors in particular handling and preparing 
personnel and remuneration matters. Examples of the responsibilities include preparing 
matters related to the appointment, compensation and successor planning of the CEO and 
Corporate Leadership Team members, evaluating and ensuring that the Company’s com-
pensation systems are appropriate and fit for the Corporate Culture and strategy. Addi-
tionally, the committee is tasked with preparing the Company’s Remuneration Policy and 
Statement.

2021

In 2021, the Personnel and Remuneration Committee has consisted of the following mem-
bers: Kati Hagros (Chair), Jaya Baloo and Kimmo Rasila. Kati Hagros and Jaya Baloo are in-
dependent of the Company and its major shareholders. Kimmo Rasila is independent of the 
Company’s major shareholders but not independent of the Company. In 2021, the Personnel 
and Remuneration Committee convened three times.

CEO 
Petri Kairinen (b. 1977, MSc. (Econ)), Nixu’s CEO since 2014, manages the company in accor-
dance with the Limited Liabilities Act and the instructions, orders, and mandates issued by 
the Board of Directors. He is also in charge of the daily operational management and im-
plementation of the company strategy, as well as steering and supervising the operations 
of Nixu and its business. Additionally, the CEO prepares matters for deliberation by the Board 
and implements any associated decisions by the Board. The CEO must obtain the Board’s 
authorization for any action that can be considered unusual in terms of the nature and 
extent of the company’s operations or may otherwise have far-reaching consequences.

The Corporate Leadership Team
The Corporate Leadership Team supports the CEO in managing the group but the team 
has no executive power based on law or the company’s Articles of Association; instead, its 
role is to help the CEO to prepare company policies and the company strategy as well as to 
assist in preparatory work concerning both group-wide and function-specific matters. The 
company CEO acts as the Chairman of the management team. The Board of Directors par-
ticipates in selecting the members of the Corporate Leadership Team and to determine the 
terms and conditions of their employment. The management team holds regular meetings, 
meeting twice a month on average. 

Corporate Leadership Team on December 31, 2021

Nixu Corporation’s Leadership team consisted of 1 January 2021 - 28 February 2021: Petri 
Kairinen (CEO), Janne Kärkkäinen (CFO), Kim Westerlund (Chief Development Officer), 
Katja Müller (Chief People Officer), Jesper Svegby (Chief Commercial Officer), Valtteri 
Peltomäki (Market Area Leader, Finland), Björn-Erik Karlsson (Market Area Leader, Sweden), 
Errit Müller (Market Area Leader, Denmark), Petari Sarjakivi (Senior Adviser).

Nixu renewed its operating model and changed its organisational structure to international 
during the first quarter. As a result, the composition of Nixu’s Corporate Leadership 
Team changed on March 1, 2021, including the CEO, CFO ,CPO and Business Area Leaders.

Nixu Corporate Leadership Team as of March 1, 2021:
• Petri Kairinen, Chief Executive Officer
• Janne Kärkkäinen, Chief Financial Officer
• Katja Müller, Chief People Officer
• Valtteri Peltomäki, SVP Client Experience
• Björn-Erik Karlsson, SVP Expert Services
• Mats Lindgren, SVP Market Expansion (until September 30, 2021)
• Pietari Sarjakivi, SVP Labs
• Jan Mickos, SVP Managed Services (as of September 8, 2021)

The details of the Corporate Leadership Team members and their shareholding in the com-
pany on December 31, 2021 are provided in the table below. Further information on the Cor-
porate Leadership Team available at www.nixu.com/about. 
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Name / 
Position

Petri  
Kairinen
CEO

Janne 
Kärkkäinen
CFO 
and Deputy CEO

Katja  
Müller
CPO

Valtteri 
Peltomäki
SVP Client 
Experience

Jan  
Mickos
SVP, Managed 
Services

Björn-Erik 
Karlsson
SVP Expert 
Services 

Pietari  
Sarjakivi
SVP Labs

Year of  
birth

1977 1973 1976 1981 1974 1963 1984

Education

MSc (Econ) MSc (Econ) MSc (Econ) MSc (Econ) Mechanic, 
Information 
Technology

Technical 
College 
Graduate

MEng, Industrial 
mgmt, 
BEng, telecom

Shares

38,107 shares 7,922 shares 1,233 shares 9,254 shares 2,062 shares 1,211 shares 8,074 shares

Corporate Leadership Team
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Internal audit

The Company does not have a separate corporate audit function. The Board of Directors 
may use external consults to conduct separate audits related to control environment and 
operations.

Insider management
Nixu’s insider management is compliant with the laws of Finland as well as any comple-
mentary regulation and the Guidelines for Insiders (“Stock Exchange Guidelines for Insid-
ers”) by Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. Additionally, the company has its own internal guidelines for 
insiders, approved by the company’s Board of Directors. Nixu’s CFO is responsible for insider 
management and related training, updating the Company’s insider registers and lists of 
persons discharging managerial responsibilities. 

Trading in Nixu securities by Nixu’s management personnel (The members of the Board of 
Directors, CEO and Corporate Leadership Team) and other persons subject to a restriction 
on trading is not allowed 30 calendar days before the publication of interim reports (full 
year and half year results as well as quarterly revenue information)(“Closed Window”). In 
addition, trading is prohibited during insider projects.

The restriction on trading extends to those working in Nixu’s finance and sales department, 
members of the Leaders Circle (selected persons in senior leader and/or senior consultant 
roles), group support function personnel, and the company’s accountant. 

Audit 
According to the Articles of Association, Nixu has one regular auditing body, which must be 
a firm of accountants authorized by the Finnish Patent and Registration Office. The term of 
the auditor ends with the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting following the election 
of the auditor. 

2021

The 2021 Annual General Meeting appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy, a Firm of 
Authorized Public Accountants, as the company’s auditor. The auditor in charge is Authorized 
Public Accountant Enel Sintonen. In 2021, Nixu paid PricewaterhouseCoopers member firms 
in Finland and abroad a total of EUR 157 thousand in fees for audits of Nixu group companies. 
Fees for additional services amounted to EUR 21 thousand. 

Related party transactions
Nixu’s related parties include the Board of Directors, the CEO, and the Corporate Leadership 
Team. The company’s finance department monitors transactions concluded between the 
company and its related parties as part of its normal reporting and monitoring process. The 
company complies with the legislation related to related party transactions and, in accor-
dance with the legislation and the Corporate Governance Code for listed companies, ensures 
that the requirements set for the monitoring, evaluation, decision-making and disclosure of 
related party transactions are complied with.

Risk management and internal control 
The aim of the company’s internal control and the risk management systems associat-
ed with the company’s financial reporting process is to ensure that the financial reports 
published by the company provide reliable, relevant, and accurate information about the 
company’s finances in a manner compliant with applicable laws and regulations. Internal 
control and risk management are integrated into the company’s processes and operations. 

Risk management

Nixu’s approach to risk management is primarily based on continuous, systematic, and pre-
ventive action taken to identify risks, to define the company’s risk appetite, to assess and man-
age risks and, should they materialize, to manage and control them in an effective manner.

The company divides its risk factors into strategic, operational, and financial risks as well 
as hazard risks. The company has divided the identified risks into further sub-categories, 
which are assessed using an internal risk management tool and risk management process 
adopted by the company. 

Risk management is decentralized across business units and group support functions, each 
of which is responsible for risk management responsibility allocation as well as risk assess-
ment, management, and reporting. Each business function is responsible for identifying and 
assessing risks affecting their own area and creating proposals for managing the identified 
risks. They must also provide regular reports to the Management Team as instructed. The 
comprehensive risk report is reviewed by the Audit Committee and the Corporate Leader-
ship Team four times a year, and the central risks are reviewed by the Board of Directors in 
each of its meetings.

Internal control 

Internal control aims to ensure that financial reporting complies with generally accepted 
accounting principles as well as rules and regulations in force at any given time. 

Nixu prepares its consolidated financial statements and half-year financial reports in ac-
cordance with the IFRS international financial reporting standards adopted by the EU, the 
Finnish Securities Markets Act, and the applicable regulations and guidelines set by the Fi-
nancial Supervisory Authority and the rules of Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. The company’s report of 
the Board of Directors and the parent company’s financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the Finnish Accounting Act and the guidelines (Finnish Accounting Stan-
dards) and statements of the Finnish Accounting Board. 

The Audit Committee supervises that the company’s accounting practices, financial ad-
ministration, internal control, auditing, and risk management are organized in an appro-
priate manner. The company’s Board of Directors and Corporate Leadership Team monitor 
the financial status of the group and its business functions and track goal progress on a 
monthly basis. Nixu’s finance department is responsible for the internal control of finan-
cial reporting and continuously assesses the performance of the controls. The company’s 
financial information is disclosed in accordance with Nixu’s Corporation Disclosure Policy.
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Remuneration Report 2021
Nixu Corporations remuneration report has been prepared in accordance with Chapter 7, 
Section 7b of the Securities Markets Act. In addition, the Securities Market Association’s Finnish 
Corporate Governance Code and its regulations have been taken into account in the prepa-
ration of the Remuneration Report. 

The Personnel and Remuneration Committee, established in April 2020 by Nixu Corporation’s 
Board of Directors, consisting of Kati Hagros (Chair), Kimmo Rasila and Jaya Baloo, has pre-
pared this report. The report was reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors on Febru-
ary, 16, 2022. This Remuneration Report will be presented during the Company’s Annual Gen-
eral Meeting in 2022, on 19 April 2022, where it will be reviewed in an advisory capacity and in 
accordance with Chapter 5, Section 3b of the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act.

The Remuneration Policy for the Nixu Corporation’s institutions was approved at the Annual 
General Meeting in 2020, on 7 April 2020. The Remuneration Policy is based on the Company’s 
business strategy and objectives. Its objective is to promote the Company’s business strate-
gy, long-term financial success, and the sustainable growth in shareholder value. Its purpose 
is to encourage, engage and steer the actions of persons working in the Company’s institu-
tions by rewarding individual employees for their personal performance and contributions in 
accordance with the Company’s strategy and financial performance. The remuneration paid 
to the Chair, Vice-Chair and members of the Board must reflect the responsibilities of each 
role and the work and qualifications required by each role in a fair and proportionate manner. 

This report describes how the Remuneration Policy has been followed in the remuneration 
provided to the Company’s management and how said remuneration has contributed to the 
Company’s long-term financial success and sustainable growth in shareholder value in the 
financial year that ended on 31 December 2021. The Company did not deviate from the Remu-
neration Policy in the financial year that ended on 31 December 2021. In terms of the remuner-
ation paid and the decision-making processes concerning remuneration, and the Company 
initiated no recovery processes in connection with any remuneration that was paid. The num-
bers in this Remuneration Report are presented as undiscounted.

Development of remuneration

In September 2021, Nixu announced its medium-term growth targets for 2022-2025. Nixu 
pursues these goals through its growth strategy. The performance-based incentive paid to 
the Company’s management is based on the financial targets determined by the Compa-
ny’s Board of Directors, and the amount paid depends on the financial results of the Com-
pany and achievement of personal targets. The short-term performance-based incentive 
is dependent on revenue and/ or EBITDA with different emphasis in accordance with Com-
pany’s financial guidance. In general, it can be stated that the remuneration has developed 
in line with the Company’s goals and strategy.

The remuneration of the Company’s Board of Directors, CEO and Deputy CEO has developed 
compared to the development of the company’s average remuneration of employees and 
the company’s financial development in the previous five financial years, as shown in the 
charts. The following chart shows the development of selected financial indicators from 2017 
to 2021.

.

The chart below shows the development of remuneration from 2017 to 2021.

Development of remuneration 2017-2021 (EUR thousand)

*Does not include remuneration of the CEO
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Remuneration of the Board of Directors 
On March 30, 2021, the Annual General Meeting confirmed for the Chair of the Board of Directors a fixed annual remu-
neration of EUR 44,000, the Deputy Chair of the Board of Directors a fixed annual remuneration of EUR 33,000 and the 
other members of the Board of Directors a fixed annual remuneration of EUR 22,000, for the term beginning after the 
Annual General Meeting 2021. 30% of the fixed annual remuneration mentioned above, shall be paid in the company’s 
shares repurchased from the marketplace and 70% in cash. In addition to the annual remunerations, a meeting specific 
remuneration of EUR 300 shall be paid in cash for attendance at meeting outside of the Member’s country of residence.

Travel expenses are reimbursed in accordance with the Company’s travel policy. In addition to the fixed annual re-
muneration portion paid in shares mentioned above, the members of the Board of Directors are not involved in the 
company’s other share-based remuneration schemes.

The Chair of the Audit Committee is paid an annual remuneration of EUR 4,000, while the Committee’s members are 
paid EUR 2,000 per year. The Chair of the Personnel and Remuneration Committee is paid an annual remuneration of 
EUR 2,000, while the Committee’s members are paid EUR 1,000 per year.

The current term of the Board of Directors will last until the next Annual General Meeting on 19 April 2022.

The remuneration provided to the members of the Board of Directors is presented in the table below. This report shows 
the remuneration accrued for the calendar year 2021 and paid during in 2021.
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Remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors in 2021

Name Position Remuneration  
(calendar year 2021) Share-based payments Annual remuneration of  

Committee duties Total

Kimmo Rasila Chair of the Board, member of the Personnel and 
Remuneration Committee  33,115 € 9,893 €  1,000 € 44,008 €

Marko Kauppi Deputy Chair of the Board, Member of the Audit Committee  24,895 € 7,424 €  2,000 € 34,319 €

Jaya Baloo Member of the Board, Member of the Personnel and 
Remuneration Committee  16,683 € 4,946 €  1,000 € 22,629 €

Kati Hagros Member of the Board, Chair of the Personnel and 
Remuneration Committee  16,683 € 4,946 €  2,000 € 23,629 €

Anders Silwer Member of the Board,  
Member of the Audit Committee  16,683 € 4,946 €  2,000 € 23,629 € 

Jari Niska Member of the Board, Chair of the Audit Committee as of 
March 30, 2021 11,883 € 4,946 € 4,000 € 20,829 €

Tuija Soanjärvi Member of the Board, Chair of the Audit Committee until 
March 30, 2021  4,800 € -  - 4,800 €



Remuneration of the CEO and Deputy CEO
Remuneration is paid to the CEO and Deputy CEO in the form of a fixed basic salary, fringe benefits, a 
short-term performance incentive, and an annual bonus. In addition, the CEO and Deputy CEO are in-
cluded in share-based remuneration schemes. The purpose of the remuneration schemes is to provide 
an incentive to the Company’s management to develop the Company and safeguard its long-term 
financial success. The applicable remuneration principles take various factors into account, such as 
the Company’s development phase and business strategy. In Finland, in accordance with the Act on 
Personnel Funds, part (25–100%) of the annual bonus is allocated to a personnel fund that is owned and 
managed by the Company’s employees. 

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for annually evaluating and deciding on the salaries, 
remunerations and other benefits provided to the CEO and Deputy CEO, as well as the principles for 
determining these decisions. The Board of Directors decides on the entitlement criteria and determina-
tion of the performance incentive on an annual basis. The amount of performance incentives paid to 
the CEO and Deputy CEO depends on the Group’s financial performance and the achievement of their 
personal targets. The CEO and Deputy CEO are entitled to a statutory pension that is based on a defined 
contribution plan.

Components of the remuneration provided to Nixu’s CEO and Deputy CEO:

Remuneration element Description

Base salary Fixed monthly salary Fixed salary including taxable fringe benefits.

SHORT-TERM 
 INCENTIVES

Performance-based 
incentive plan

The performance-based incentive is based on the financial targets determined by the 
Company’s Board of Directors. The target period for this short-term incentive plan is six months 
and the incentive is paid half-yearly. The criteria, weightings and results of the 2021 targets have 
been presented separately.

Annual bonus The CEO and the Deputy CEO are included in the annual bonus system. The criteria and 
payment criteria of the bonus paid half-yearly have been presented separately.

PENSIONS Statutory pension, defined contribution plan Statutory pension scheme, no additional pension schemes are agreed. 

SHARE - BASED 
PAYMENTS

All-Employee Matching Share Plan The CEO and the management team participate in the All-Employee Matching Share Plan. More 
information on the program below.

Key personnel stock option scheme The stock option scheme is directed to personnel responsible for the implementation of Nixu’s 
growth strategy. More information on the program below.
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The short-term incentives of CEO and Deputy CEO in 2021 *:

* The Performance-based incentive in H2/2021 is based on a forecast.
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H1/2021

Description of the criterion Weight Result  
(0-100%) Performance bonus (€)

CEO External revenue 40% 0% 0 €

Operative EBITDA 20% 0% 0 €

Employee NPS 20% 10% 505.26 €

Gross margin 20% 0% 0 €

Deputy CEO External revenue 40% 0% 0 €

Operative EBITDA 20% 0% 0 €

Employee NPS 20% 10% 150.00 €

Gross margin 20% 0% 0 €

H2/2021

Description of the criterion Weight Result  
(0-100%) Performance bonus (€)

CEO External revenue 20% 0% 0€ 

Operative EBITDA 50% 0% 0€ 

Employee NPS 10% 0% 0€ 

Managed Services Monthly Recurring Revenue 20% 0% 0€ 

Deputy CEO External revenue 20% 0% 0€ 

Operative EBITDA 60% 0% 0€ 

Employee NPS 10% 0% 0€ 

Managed Services Monthly Recurring Revenue 10% 0% 0€ 



All-Employee Share Matching Plan 2019-2021
 
1. The All-Employee Matching Share Plan 2019–2021, is directed to all permanent employ-

ees of Nixu Corporation and its subsidiaries. The plan is to create an incentive for the 
Nixu employees to become shareholders or increase their shareholding in Nixu and 
thereby continue to strengthen and align the interests of the employees, Nixu and its 
shareholders. And in addition to share Nixu’s success with its employees also through 
the possible increase in the share price and to drive One Nixu -thinking. The participa-
tion is voluntary.

2. Plan period: two years, 2019-2021

3. The employees that participate in the plan have the right of receiving one matching 
share free of consideration for each full two New Shares subscribed in the Share Issue 
after a two-year retention period.

4.  The programme ended on 11 March 2021. The gross remuneration of the programme 
was divided into net shares received and cash reward.

The criteria and payment for the annual bonus 2021:

Criteria and amount Basis for payment

H1/2021

As a bonus, 18.3% of Nixu Finland’s 
EBITDA was distributed.

The bonus was distributed and paid 
half-yearly pro rata with the salary. The 
employment relationship must be valid at 
the time of payment.

H2/2021
As a bonus, 18% of Nixu Group’s 
operating EBITDA exceeding EUR 
500,000, was distributed.

The bonus was distributed and paid every six 
months equally to all employees in Finland 
and Sweden in proportion to the period of 
employment. The employment relationship 
must be valid for the entire accumulation 
period and at the time of payment.

Key personnel stock option scheme
 1. The goal is to create an incentive for the key personnel committed to implementing 

Nixu’s strategy. A prerequisite (at least for the first series of options) is to participate in the 
All-employee share matching plan.

2. The total maximum number of Stock Options issued is 345,000. Of the Stock Options, 
115,000 are marked with the symbol 2019A, 115,000 with the symbol 2019B and 115,000 with 
the symbol 2019C.

 
The share subscription period with the Stock Options shall be:
• for Stock Options 2019A: The Board of Directors decided to postpone the subscription 

period of option series 2019A and the period of achievement of the related perfor-
mance targets so that the subscription period begins on 31 December 2022 and ends 
on 31 August 2024. Original, the subscription period for the option series 2019A was 1 
October 2021–31 May 2023.

• for Stock Options 2019B: 1 October 2022 - 31 May 2024
• for Stock Options 2019C: 1 October 2023 - 31 May 2025.

3. The Stock Options will be issued gratuitously. The Board of Directors is in connection with 
the distribution of the Stock Options entitled to set the Stock Option holders’ right to keep 
all or part of the Stock Options until the commencement of the share subscription period 
conditional on the fulfillment of specific financial or operational performance targets on 
terms separately determined by the Board of Directors.

4. The share subscription price shall be:
2019A: the trade volume weighted average quotation of the Company’s share on NASDAQ 
Helsinki Ltd during the period of April 1, 2019 - April 30, 2019. The subscription price was set 
at EUR 12.09 per share.

2019B: the trade volume weighted average quotation of the Company’s share on NASDAQ 
Helsinki Ltd during the twenty trading days following the publication date of the Compa-
ny’s financial statements release for the year 2019 (February 13, 2020 - March 11, 2020). The 
subscription price was set at EUR 9.48 per share.

2019C: the trade volume weighted average quotation of the Company’s share on NASDAQ 
Helsinki Ltd. during the twenty trading days following the publication date of the Compa-
ny’s financial statements release for the year 2020 (February 11, 2021 - March 10, 2021). The 
subscription price was set at EUR 9.95 per share.
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 Stock Options 2019A

Stock Options 2019B

Stock Options 2019C

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

original subscription period subscription period

subscription period

subscription period



Stock options for the CEO and deputy CEO in the key personnel share programme:

Remuneration of the CEO and deputy CEO in 2021

The wages and salaries paid to the CEO and deputy CEO during the financial year 2021, including fringe benefits, are presented in the table below.  
The share-based payments made in 2021 are based on the end of the Matching Share Program, which started in 2019.

1 The basic salary includes taxable fringe benefits. 
2 The performance bonus and the annual bonus for 2021 consist of the payment made by H1/2021 and the H2/2021 forecast. 
3 The gross remuneration shown in the table consists of net shares and cash reward.
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Number of options in the programme CEO
Petri Kairinen

Deputy CEO
Janne Kärkkäinen

Stock Options 2019A 9,100 5,000

Stock Options 2019B 8,000 5,000

Stock Options 2019C 7,500 7,500

CEO  
Petri Kairinen

Deputy CEO
Janne Kärkkäinen

Basic salary 1 186,256 € 141,993 €

 Performance bonus 2 505 € 150 €

Annual bonus 2 1,392 € 1,335 €

Share-based payments 3 9,456 € 9,456 €

Pension 34,423 € 26,641 €

Total 232,032 € 179,575 €



nixuoy nixu-oy nixu.sales@nixu.com www.nixu.com
@ nixutigerteam
@ NixuHQ


